

# UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS INSTITUTO DE ECONOMIA

# **BILGE ÇOBAN**

# The Realm of Call Centers and Trade Unions: A literature Review

Call centers e sindicatos: uma revisão da literatura



# UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS INSTITUTO DE ECONOMIA

# **BILGE ÇOBAN**

# The Realm of Call Centers and Trade Unions: A literature Review

Call centers e sindicatos: uma revisão da literatura

Prof. Dr. Hugo Miguel Oliveira Rodrigues Dias - Orientador

Dissertação apresentada ao Instituto de Economia da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Mestra em Desenvolvimento Econômico, na área de Economia Social e do Trabalho.

Dissertation presented to the Institute of Economics of the University of Campinas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master in Economic Develop, in the area of Social Economy and Labour Area.

ESTE EXEMPLAR CORRESPONDE À VERSÃO FINAL DA DISSERTAÇÃO DEFENDIDA PELA ALUNA BILGE ÇOBAN E ORIENTADA PELO PROF. DR. HUGO MIGUEL OLIVEIRA RODRIGUES DIAS.

Huso Radnigues Dias

## Agência(s) de fomento e nº(s) de processo(s): CNPq, 550019/2012-0

Ficha catalográfica
Universidade Estadual de Campinas
Biblioteca do Instituto de Economia
Mirian Clavico Alves - CRB 8/8708

Çoban, Bilge, 1980-

C632r

The realm of call centers and trade unions : a literature review / Bilge Çoban.

- Campinas, SP: [s.n.], 2015.

Orientador: Hugo Miguel Oliveira Rodrigues Dias.

Dissertação (mestrado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Instituto de Economia.

 Centros de atendimento ao cliente.
 Sindicatos.
 Crises.
 Dias, Hugo Miguel Oliveira Rodrigues, 1978-.
 Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Instituto de Economia.
 Título.

#### Informações para Biblioteca Digital

Título em outro idioma: Call centers e sindicatos : uma revisão da literatura

Palavras-chave em inglês:

Call centers Labor unions

Crisis

Área de concentração: Economia Social e do Trabalho Titulação: Mestra em Desenvolvimento Econômico

Banca examinadora:

Hugo Miguel Oliveira Rodrigues Dias [Orientador]

Carlos Salas Paez Ruy Gomes Braga Neto **Data de defesa:** 27-11-2015

Programa de Pós-Graduação: Desenvolvimento Econômico



# DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO

# **BILGE ÇOBAN**

# The Realm of Call Centers and Trade Unions: A literature Review

Call centers e sindicatos: uma revisão da literatura

**Defendida em 27/11/2015** 

COMISSÃO JULGADORA

Hugo Rodrigues Dias

Prof. Dr. HUGO MIGUEL OLIVEIRA RODRIGUES DIAS Instituto de Economia / UNICAMP

Prof. Dr. CARLOS SALAS PAEZ Instituto de Economia / UNICAMP

Prof. Dr. RUY GÓMES BRAGA NETO

Faculdade de Filosofia, Letras e Ciências Humanas / UNIVERSIDADE DE SÃO PAULO

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all, I would like to respectfully thank my adviser Prof. Dr. Hugo Dias for his invaluable support and advice and seemingly unending patience with me. I would like to respectfully thank also Ruy Braga for his guidance and encouragement to choose this subject.

I would like to express my appreciation and special thanks to Prof. Dr. Carlos Salas Peaz and Prof. Dr. Jose Dari Krein for guiding me with all their knowledge and wisdom.

I am intensely grateful to my colleagues, Kartika Sardjana, Anna Lopez, Ezgi Bagdadioğlu, Cheng Li, Mario Jacobs, Nicolo Giangrande, and Muzaffer Ekin Şişli for their invaluable friendship and encouragement to finalize the study successfully.

Some of my friends, Clair Siobhan Ruppert, Bülend Karadağ, Patricia Costa and Rairis Martin deserve special thanks not only for their kind support of this study but also sharing the burdens of my life in Brazil. My gratitude for their encouraging friendship is beyond any expression. My special thanks to Martha Mary Ruppert for her generous helps to my study.

I would like to thank to the professors, lecturers and my colleagues at CESIT, the Global Labour University at the University of Campinas, and the CUT (Central Unica dos Trabalhaldores) for all their support.

Finally, I am deeply grateful to my family for their invaluable support, patience and never ending encouragement not only during my stay in Brazil, but at all stages of my life.

**ABSTRACT** 

This dissertation focused on the call center industry and its growing importance in

developed and developing countries in respect to unionization effort in that area. Call centers

are mostly located in developing countries. And it may be favorable for these countries

because it might bring employment, but sure that it is not favorable for workers in respect to

working conditions. Unfortunately, the sector predominantly offers low-skilled, low-waged

and highly flexible jobs in terms of working hours and term of contracts.

As many countries around the globe provide call center service, type of the call center

work, workforce, and quality of work life issues, and unionization of call center workers have

become growing importance and growing interest both in the academic and union world. The

objective of this study was to find out the interest on the activities of union organizing in the

relevant academic literature. In this context this study attempted to examine the expansion of

call centers, features of call center work and workforce as well as geographical distribution of

centers and unionization in call centers through reviewing relevant academic literature.

**Keywords:** call center, union crisis, trade union revitalization, call center literature.

**RESUMO** 

Esta dissertação foca a indústria de call center e sua crescente importância nos países

desenvolvidos e em desenvolvimento no que diz respeito ao esforço de sindicalização nessa

área. Call centers estão localizados principalmente em países em desenvolvimento. E isso

pode ser favorável para estes países, pois pode trazer emprego, mas não é certo que seja

favorável para os trabalhadores no que diz respeito às condições de trabalho. Infelizmente, o

setor oferece predominantemente empregos de baixa qualificação, baixos salários e altamente

flexíveis em termos de horas de trabalho e duração dos contratos.

Como muitos países ao redor do mundo oferecem serviço de call center, o tipo de

trabalho de call center, a força de trabalho e a qualidade de vida no trabalho e sindicalização

dos trabalhadores de call center têm se tornado cada vez mais importantes e gerado interesse

crescente, tanto no mundo acadêmico como sindical. O objetivo deste estudo foi o de avaliar o

interesse sobre as atividades de organização sindical na literatura acadêmica relevante. Neste

contexto, este estudo procurou analisar a expansão dos call centers, características do trabalho

de call center e força de trabalho, bem como a sua distribuição geográfica e níveis de

sindicalização.

Palavras-chave: call center, crise sindical, revitalização sindical, literatura sobre call centers.

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:Union density in selected OECD Countries (1960-2010)
Table 2: The main reasons why call center workers dislike their jobs
LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1 The service sector accounts for most of the variation in employment rates across
OECD countries
Figure 2: Union Membership Rates Average in OECD Countries(1960-2010)39

## LIST OF ABBREVIATONS

**ABT** Brazilian Association of Teleservices

**ACD** Automatic Call Distributer

**AFL-CIO** American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations

**ASU** Australian Services Union

**BPO** Business Process Outsourcing

**CEPU** Communications, Electrical and Plumbing Union, Australia

**CGIL** Italian General Confederation of Labour

CME Coordinated Market Economy

**CPSU** Community and Public Sector Union

**CISL** Italian Confederation of Trade Unions

**CWU** Telecoms Sector Union, United Kingdom

**ÇSGB** Turkish Ministry of Labour and Social Security

**ECB** European Central Bank

**EU** European Union

**FSU** Finance Sector Union, Australia

**GDP** Gross Domestic Product

**IMF** International Monetary Fund

**LME** Liberal Market Economy

**MEAA** Media, Entertainment and Arts Alliance, Australia

**NUW** National Unions of Workers, Australia

**OECD** Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

**Sintratel** Sindicato dos Trabalhadores em Telemarketing

**TUC** Trades Union Congress

UIL Italian Labour Union

UK United Kingdom

UNI UNI Global Union

**UNIFI** Finance Sector Union, United Kingdom

**UNISON** UNISON The Public Service Union

**UNITES** Union of Information Technology Enabled Services Professionals, India

**USA** United States of America

US United States

WB World Bank

# **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION
Purpose of the Study
Importance of the Study
Limitation
Content of Study
CHAPTER I5
THE CALL CENTER WORK
1.1. Growth in the Service Sector and the Rise of Call Centers
1.2. 21st Century Factories
CHAPTER II
THE GLOBAL CALL CENTER INDUSTRY
2.1. Liberal Market Economies
2.2. Coordinated Market Economies
2.3. Developing Countries
CHAPTER III
CALL CENTERS and TRADE UNIONS
3.1. The Crisis of Trade Union Movement
3.2. Importance of Organizing
3.3. Union Organizing in Call Centers
CONCLUSION
PIPLIOCD ADUV

## INTRODUCTION

Call centers have developed in the last decades and employ more than 11 million workers in the sector. They have brought about many changes as well. Not only do they represent a new form of work organization which deal with customer care by phone, but they are also a complex socio-technical system. Nowadays millions of people are working in call centers and it is considered that a new form of work has been emerging for hundreds of thousands of fresh university graduates, especially, in developing countries.

On the other hand, most scientific literature on the phenomenon of the rise of call centers from the 1990s onward agrees that the form of work organization in call centers is embedded in the constant strive for cost reduction and profit maximization that characterizes modern capitalism (Ellis & Taylor, 2006). In this literature, call centers are considered as the best sample of the twenty first century capitalist mass-production factories.

Work organization in call centers, apparently, is conditioned by changes in the structure of production system occurred after the economic crisis in 1970s. Neoliberal package (deregulation, privatization and financialization) is presented as a solution to the crisis. In line with these new developments in the economy, whole production process has been flexibilized according to the needs of markets.

Fragmentation, proliferation, flexibilization and feminization of work have brought about new challenges for trade unions. Nowadays, it is impossible for trade unions to keep and improve their social role without considering increasing number of non-standard working forms and feminization of labour force. A new course of action has to be determined by trade unions because of the enormous fragmentation of the working class. Indeed, this always firstly require an organizational re-structuring according to new conditions of working class. Therefore, these changes are not only warning for trade unions but they are also new opportunities for unions to cope with their new challenges.

This dissertation addresses the union organizing in call centers within this context. Needless to say, as one of the largest sector in terms of employment, call centers provide opportunities for trade unions in the face of declining union density to recruit new members. Eventually, union organizing in call centers can be important not just as a means of bringing nonunionized workers into the trade union movement, but also as a means of helping unions to figure out and redefine their role in the twenty-first century. Obviously, as call centers grew

in number, the nature of work, the workforce, quality of work life issues, and collective representation of call center workers have become growing importance and growing interest both in the academic and union world.

## **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of the dissertation is to examine academic literature on call center and trade unions. This study will investigate what type of literature do exist on trade unions in call centers.

## **Importance of the Study**

This dissertation is mainly interested in literature covering subjects related to trade union activities in call centers. Firstly, the significance of this dissertation is to examine studies on trade unions that exist in the current literature of call centers. Secondly, it is important to analyze whether there is trade union interest to organize a new labour profile such as call center workers, and whether there is academic interest to do research into union organizing. The author seeks to make modest contribution to the call center literature on the problems and opportunities which can be presented to trade unions.

#### Limitation

The limitation is associated with secondary data used in this dissertation. Due to the recent development of the call center industry, most countries have not yet developed a specific classification for the call center as an industry. Therefore, the most important limitation of this study was to procure the latest data.

#### **Content of Study**

This dissertation is divided into three chapters:

**Chapter 1: The Call Center Work:** The study begins by defining call center work, and briefly examining the rise of call center industry in line with rapid growth in service sector, and reviewing existing literature.

Chapter 2: The Global Call Center Industry: This chapter focuses on the expansion of call centers as well as examining their characteristics of workforce, and their geographical distribution in the world.

3

Chapter 3: Call Centers and Trade Unions: Firstly, focusing on the union

organizing, it will be attempted to analyze the structural and contingent causes of union

membership decline to get a better understanding of why unions should recruit in new sectors

as call centers. The second part of this chapter reviews studies trade unions in call center

literature.

**Conclusions :** This section briefly summarizes the findings in this study.

# CHAPTER I THE CALL CENTER WORK

The chapter is organized into two sections. The development of call center industry linked with the growth in service sector is going to be examined and the call center work related to new work organization is going to be defined in first section. The following part is going to provide an overview of the existing academic literature on call centers.

#### 1.1. Growth in the Service Sector and the Rise of Call Centers

In today's world, importance of services and the service sector is increasing. In general, the transformation in the capitalist forms of production is explained by the expansion in the service sector (Akçay, 2008). Indeed, the most important feature of the new order is the differentiated market that depends on the competition of quality and the development of new types of production. The critical point for this study is the place of call center in the service sector within the world economy. Therefore, it should be mentioned how to define service sector.

Various definitions of service exist in literature regarding service sector and service quality. Hill (1977) suggests that a service might be defined as:

"A service may be defined as a change in the condition of a person, or of a good belonging to some economic unit, which is brought about as the result of the activity of some other economic unit, with the prior agreement of the former person or economic unit" (Hill, 1977).

Gadrey (2000) explains the service on the nature of service activities:

"Any purchase of services by an economic agent B (whether an individual or organization) would, therefore, be the purchase from organization A of the right to use, generally for a specified period, a technical and human capacity owned or controlled by A in order to produce useful effects on agent B or on goods C owned by agent B or for which he or she is responsible" (Gadrey, 2000).

The service sector can also be defined as information-production sector. People are interacting with people and serving the customer rather than transforming physical goods like

in the industry sector. In this sense, Gadrey (2000) underlines the relationship between producers and consumers, and suggests that in the case of services the direct contact is necessary, in his words:

"Service sector relates to the process and not to the final output, and "most importantly, one of the characteristics of post-Fordist manufacturing is that there are much closer links than in Fordist productive systems between producers, subcontractors and consumers as a result of the direct relationships between the various actors, including the producing organization itself, which in many respects resemble service relationships" (Gadrey, 2000).

The service sector is traditionally identified as part of the tertiary industries, thus including all those industries other than primary (agriculture, fishing, forestry) and secondary (manufacturing, mining, construction) industries (Raj, 2008). Nowadays, there has been an apparent shift from the primary and the secondary sectors to the tertiary sector in most industrialized countries. Manufacturing and service sector may have some factors of production in common like labour, capital or land, even though technology and knowledge are more central in service than manufacturing (Raj, 2008). On the other hand, manufacturing lost its share in total economy and shifted from cities to territorial regions, Sassen (2001) asserts that manufacturing has a significant role in both supporting service growth and economic development. In this respect, Wirtz (2000) stated that there are three main reasons in the growth of the service sector. First the focus on core competencies by the firms leading to outsource, and service jobs in manufacturing firms that formerly were classified as manufacturing jobs became part of the service sector. Secondly, deregulation drives competition, leading to lower prices, better quality, and a wider variety of services. Lastly, rapid technological advances and falling prices in telecommunications and information technology services drastically reduced transaction and communication costs.

In most financial and economic papers and views, the service sector is said to be the most expanding and leading sector, which prompts the economy in many countries, especially United States, Canada, England, (OECD, 2005) Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, and Taiwan (Wirtz, 2000), China (Wang & Li, 2010). United States (US) is reported to be the world leader in the transformation to a service economy, while the Asian economies are clearly following the US. The percentage of GDP (Gross Domestic Product) accounted for by the service sector has been increasing since 1975, and it is reported that it may go up to 80% in countries such as Hong Kong which has the most developed service sector in Asia (Wirtz, 2000). Besides that, Wang and Li analyzed the relationship between the service industry and

economic growth in China by applying co-integration analysis (Wang & Li, 2010). Their results showed that a long-term equilibrium relationship exists between the service sector and economic growth. According to them, the service industry of China plays an important role in economic growth since "every 1% increase in service sector output will promote 0.97% economic growth" (Wang & Li, 2010).

The Figure 1 below which is taken from Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) shows the service sector accounts for most of the variation in employment rates. In the figure, the service sector covers all services, including community, social and personal services. As is apparent from the figure, service sector has made a large contribution to employment growth among all the OECD countries especially in Australia, Canada, Sweden and Norway.

Services Goods % 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 New Zealand Slovet Regulatic United Kingdom Switzerland Wetherland's Turistant States Austria Ireland Livenbourg Australia Germany Greece Portugal Belgium France Canada Sweden **K**oles HSH Spain Finland ₩

Figure 1 The service sector accounts for most of the variation in employment rates across OECD countries (Share of the working-age population employed in goods and services, 2002, percentages)

**Source:** (OECD, 2005)

The service sector has been becoming large in reflection of a more highly specialized economy as firms specializing in specific services such as accounting, banking, tax advice, insurance (Wirtz, 2000). In particular, during the 1980s, business became more aware of the potential of information and communication technologies to increase the efficiency of their operations and to provide a wide range of customer services (Richardson & Gillespie, 2003). Contacting customers via telephone thus supplying a competitive advantage to companies, especially where similar services were provided (Richardson & Marshall, 1999). Furthermore, quality of service is crucial in attracting and maintaining customers, as a result call centers are gaining increasing importance. The rapid growth of dedicated call centers dealing with "mass"

*communication*" began in the 1990s and very rapidly reached a widespread phenomenon that fundamentally changed the nature of work in a number of fields (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). In this sense, Taylor et al. (2002) state:

"It is now widely acknowledged that the spectacular growth of call centers, since the early 1990s, represents one of the most significant developments in the changing structure of service employment in North America, Western Europe and Australasia" (Taylor et al., 2002).

Even though call centers have increased in 1990s, the first type of call center was established in the late 1960s when the Ford Motor Company and AT&T developed the '800' number to facilitate the recall of faulty cars in order to comply with a legal obligation (Bagnara & Marti, 2001). The fundamental innovation that paved the way for the mushrooming of call centers as a dedicated unit was the Automated Call Distribution (ACD) system (Ellis & Taylor, 2006). After that, call centers were developed in the USA in early the 1980s and a few years later in the UK and Australia due to the dramatic rise in consumer demand thus call centers started to increase in number in the UK around 1990 (Raj, 2008). As a result, the banking and finance sector were always the pioneer of the call center industry.

These days, call center is regarded as the main venue that differentiates between "being in business" and "not being in business" especially in some industries such as financial services, GSM operators, catalog retailing. In some other industries call center is the first corporate step offering more efficient service to their customers as well as improving their image in the business world. Besides that, call centers represent an emerging sector as no clear industry boundaries exist, they compete against each other in a defined market space. The product market occurs of managing service and sales transactions between provider firms and their customers (Batt et al., 2009).

Call centers offer insights to new economy service and high tech activities that have emerged in the current period of "heightened international competition" (Batt et al., 2009). As a result, call centers have been moved to deindustrialized regions where large labour pool was attractive for profit maximization. For instance, the Highlands and Islands of Scotland were 'discovered' as an ideal call center location in the United Kingdom and the number of call center workers in the region increased from 300 to 2,300 during the 1990s (Richardson & Gillespie, 2003).

The early 2000s have witnessed a move of call center activities to periphery countries due to companies using the technological advances to relocate service sector activities internationally (Holman et al., 2007). The rapid growth of call centers and their extending activities in periphery or semi-periphery countries are related to these recent management strategies. Twenty-first century capitalism manifests restructuring business processes and not only for manufacture sector, but also for service sector, the cost reduction and profit maximization logic paves the way for a new international division of labor in the case of call centers. Bristow et al. (2000) clearly state that the two distinct facets of corporate organizational change lead to the mushrooming of call centers: First, the process of decentralizing back-office or routine corporate functions in-house to sites away from the corporate core and second, the process of contracting out of noncore corporate functions to a third party outside the firm, that is, outsourcing. Furthermore, Ellis and Taylor (2006) strongly emphasize the role of the political and economic environment of neo-liberalism, deregulation and privatization, the financialization of markets and the growth of the new economy in the expansion of call center industry. It is important to note that in this climate, not only business but also state or local governments have noticed the importance of call centers. Some governments have begun to make generous offers to companies such as tax reductions, forgivable loans, and incentives to locate in specific areas. Consequently, state and business cooperation in establishment and expansion of call center industries in many national contexts is evident (Cantrick Brooks, 2005).

After this brief of evaluation on rising call centers, now the focus of this dissertation moves on to define call center work. A call center can be defined as a mechanism of service provision, in which employees using the computers make or accept the calls which are ordered and controlled by the ACD system (Taylor & Bain, 1999). Work operations in the call centers are managed by a group of workers who spend most of their time doing business by telephone, and working in a computer automated environment.

The call center worker usually sits at a table in front of a computer, using a headset for communicating with the customer, leaving his or her hands free in order to input data into the computer if necessary. Depending on the business, a call center worker talks with about 60 to 250 clients per shift of 8 hours (Dieckhoff et al., 2002).

A call center could be any one or all of the following (Raj, 2008):

• a telemarketing center

- a teleservice center
- a help desk
- a reservation center for airlines or hotels
- a catalogue retailer
- an e-commerce transaction center
- a fund-raising and collection organization

Call centers can be part of the company or external services usually working on behalf of several companies. The ways call centers get in contact with customers may differ. Two types of call centers can be mentioned: Inbound call centers and outbound call centers. Inbound calls are those initiated by customers calling into the center to obtain information, report a breakdown, or ask for help and outbound calls are initiated by employees calling customers for selling a product (Taylor & Bain, 1999). However, there are also call centers with both inbound and outbound activities.

A further distinction can be made between in-house and outsourced services. Some call centers are parts of larger public or private organization while others are independent units. The former is defined as in-house call centers, the latter as outsourced or "service supplier" call centers. Outsourced call centers refer to the subcontracting of a service to a different company. For example, company A commissioning company B to run a call center, staffed with employees from company B to deal with customer services on behalf of company A. The decision to choose this model is usually motivated on the part of the outsourcing company by the expectation that it is going to save costs and spare the company the need to deal with issues such as call center. In the literature, Paul and Huws (2002) separate outsourced call centers as large and small centers. Large outsourced call centers are often partly owned by large companies in the telecommunications, computer or banking sectors, while small outsourced call centers carry out work for private or public clients across a variety of sectors. Outsourced call center activities can be made within national boundaries, a practice called onshore, or companies can make "Service Level Agreement" with companies overseas, defined as offshore (Taylor & Bain, 2005).

#### 1.2. 21st Century Factories

The employment and investment in call center industry has risen and reached millions. This development of the call centers has also led to increased academic interest on this new source of employment. In this sense, call centers have been the subject of academic studies over twenty years and examined from various perspectives. It can be mentioned that there are numerous special journal editions, collected books and hundreds of articles, special reports related to call centers in the academic literature. The maximum capacity of research on call centers has been theoretical-empirical in nature with the main focus being the managerial strategies, labour process, working conditions and labour organization within the industry. There has also been studies on union organizing in call centers which will be examined in Chapter 3.

In the literature, the high degree of organization and control has led to call centers being described as "the new sweatshops" (Fernie & Metcalf, 1998), "white collar factories" (Ellis & Taylor, 2006), or "an assembly line in the head" (Taylor & Bain, 1999). All these expressions compare the call center to a modern form of the mass-production factory. The first studies on call centers were concerned with the surveillance practices which are evident in the call center environment and by a Foucauldian approach. In this context, Fernie and Metcalf (1998) argued that the "electronic panopticon" a more modern version of the ideal prison design originally put forward by Jeremy Bentham in 1785, and later applied to modern society and workplace by Michel Foucault in his 1977 work. Discipline and Punish, "truly [was] the vision of the future" for call centers, and that "these organizations are the very epitome of what Foucault had in mind" (Fernie & Metcalf, 1998). In other words, from their view, the managerial usage of information and communication technologies make the call centers "archetypical organization to represent Foucault's application of Bentham's Panopticon to the workplace." This Foucauldian evaluation of the call center was criticized by many scholars. Among others, Bain and Taylor (2000), who, while agreeing that the modern call center is characterized by a high degree of surveillance and control, and this maintains that the panopticon is in fact imperfect and that there are indeed ways of resistance and escape open to call center workers.

One of the common approaches on the call center labour process is Taylorism which took its name from the studies of Frederick Taylor, and led to *the Scientific Management Revolution* in the capitalist production system. Taylor et. al, (2002) claim that call center as a unique labour process exemplifies various features of twenty-first century capitalism. In light of the critical labour process theory of Braverman, they put the call center labour process as "an assembly line in the head" and showed Taylorist elements that are "embedded" in call centers (Taylor, et al., 2002). Braverman (1998) emphasized that an inherited tendency of

capitalist production have led workers to loose their autonomy in the production process and have been deskilled. In this sense, many scholars agree that the call center labour process represents "new developments in the Taylorization of white collar work" (Bain et al., 2002). In other words, Braverman matched the twentieth century capitalism with Taylor's "scientific management." Taylorist management seeks to find "one best way" to perform a job. It separates mental work from manual work and has a monopoly over planning and organizing the work execution. Taylorism insists that workers perform every single task in a determined "one best way" and workers are controlled by close supervision and monitoring. In addition, Taylor (1947) suggests that workers' salaries are motivating tools, therefore, to increase productivity, performance related pay should be put into effect.

The managers' fixed attempt to control labour and the labour process in every possible way is central to Braverman's analysis of the capitalist mode of production. In Braverman's view (1998), managers tend to control the organization of work, the pace of work and standardize every single movement of the worker in the workplace to maximize productivity. Since the managers insist on controlling labour, the separation of work execution and work conception is unavoidable. In this sense, workers are expected to follow determined ways of doing a job which is forced organizationally and technologically. This separation leads to deskilling on the workers' part, and the execution of work is demoted to acting like a tool or a part of machine. In this way, workers are transformed into changeable objects of the labour process and as long as the execution of work is standardized and routinized, labour and training costs are reduced significantly (Taylor & Bain, 1999).

In the case of call centers, Bain et. al (2002) claim to what degree call center managers use "targets" as controlling tools and make workers accountable objects. In this sense, many scholars stress the development of the ACD system, which routes the incoming call to the first available worker, lies at the heart of call center work and the capitalist exploitation of new communication technologies defines what a call center is (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). Nevertheless, scholars carefully have avoided technological determinism and paid attention to putting their analysis in a socio-economic context. As Ellis and Taylor (2002) strongly stress that call centers' rise cannot be fully understood without taking into consideration the social, political and economic context in which it occurred: "Growth is inexplicable without reference to the broader political and economic environments of neoliberalism, deregulation, restructuring and financialisation of markets". This political and economic environment was characterized by the impact of "deregulation and privatization, restructuring at industry

and/or firm level, the intensification of economy-wide and sectoral competition, the growth of the new economy and, underpinning everything, the system-wide compulsion to maximize profits and reduce costs" (Ellis & Taylor, 2006). In other words, heightened competition led to increased pressure on companies, including former state monopolists, to cut costs and maximize profits. So the new technology and organizational form of the call center evidently offered great opportunities for just that (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014).

Working conditions of call centers have always been one of the main subjects on call center research, especially, in developed countries. In general, call center work has been characterized to be routine, to have low task variety and complexity, and low utilization of qualifications in terms knowledge, skills and abilities (Broek et al., 2004; Ellis & Taylor, 2006; Frenkel et al., 1998). In Holman's view (2002), call center work is often underlined as especially stressful, and by implication, that it is more stressful than any other comparable forms of employment. The usage of scripts in the labour process is one of the controlling tools for the call center workers which seriously affects the working environment. Workers have to hold on to scripts during conversations with clients, usually in inbound services. In this way, labour becomes fragmented and can be measured by the highest sales as well as length and quality of phone calls, and the number of customers attended to on the phone. When workers do not meet these criteria, first they are warned, and the second stage is dismissal. Thus, performance evaluation becomes a method to control labour productivity in this process (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). This is also a way of standardizing call center work. At this point, Taylor and Bain (1999) claim that the use of scripts "is an attempt to structure the very speech of workers into a series of predictable, regulated and routinized queries and responses".

The typical layout of a call center consists of a large open-plan office with workstations separated from each other in rows or in groups, controlled by managers and supervisors usually at the end of one of the rows or on one side of the room. Furthermore, most call centers operate an organizational system whereby workers are divided into teams that are headed by team leaders or team managers. At this point, Baldry et. al. (1998) use the term "team Taylorism" to define team working as a controlling strategy in the call center environment. Besides this, Van den Broek and colleagues (2004) stress that the hidden logic behind team-working is to create competition among workers. From this point of view, it can be said that call center work is very individualized and cannot be related to team working in any meaningful way.

The case of the Indian call center environment can be given as an example for the clear understanding of the working conditions. Research carried out in India by Raj (2008) that Indian call center workers usually have problems with their vocal cords due to the frequency of calls and inadequate breaks. While workers always using headphones during their busy working hours face hearing loss and compliance problems between ears. Lots of physical health problems regarding eye, waist, neck health, etc. are among the daily problems of call center (Raj, 2008). At this point, Raj notes that working nights and sleeping during the day upset the biorhythm, leading to health problems. Not only is family and social life disrupted, but psychological difficulties also appear. Besides that, it may cause some problems for women in a society that may not easily accept women being out of the house at night. The typical shifts of Indian call centers are from 10 am to 7 pm for Australian processes; 6.30pm to 2.30 am for the UK processes; and 7 pm to 10 am for the USA. As a result of all these problems, turnover rate is generally very high in Indian call centers which is higher than 50 percent annually (Batt et al., 2005). This also means that most workers do not see the call center job as a long-term career prospect but rather as an opportunity to make good money before moving on to something else that may pay less, at least in the beginning (Raj, 2008).

In line with working conditions, turnover in call centers is well-researched and well-documented in the call center literature. For instance, in a research carried out the causes of high labour turnover in call centers are (Rousan & Henderson, 1996):

- 1. Emergence of an available job alternative and changes in the unemployment rates,
- 2. Management styles,
- 3. Task specifications,
- 4. Reward systems,
- 5. Lack of authority in one's job,
- 6. Interest in one's job

A supporting study by Fleischer (2004) claims that "call center workers turnover is the manifestation of conditions that render call centers vulnerable such as the flu". As a live example, in a call center located in Canada, there has even been a turnover of 100% one time

in a year. Considering their usual turnover percentage, the president of the call center operations stated:

"That doesn't mean that you would lose all of your staff, but it may mean that you would have to fill a third of your positions three times a year...And people used to see working at a call center as something they did before they got a real job...But given the growth of the industry, businesses can't afford to be complacent about staff retention. This is especially true as the competition for people tightens up across different call centers...The demand for the same skill sets is growing. And that is what I see as a real threat for us. There are more people competing for the same talent pool and the pool is not getting larger" (Uyen, 2005).

The "skill question" in call center work has been well analyzed and discussed from different views in the call center literature as well. While some scholars insist on the term deskilling or deskilled work, others claim that not all call center jobs are deskilled, rather some forms of call center work create multi-skilling. For instance, in a very early study on call centers, Frenkel et al. (2008) claimed that call center workers are employed according to their strong interpersonal skills and they should have been considered "semi-professional workers". However, this approach has been criticized by scholars in later research. Houlihan (2000) writes that "the agent job is mythologised as simple and routine, which is a surface fact beyond which there are many complex role and skill demands".

On the other hand, Ursula Huws suggests (as cited in Baldry, et al., 2007) that call center workers are Taylorized, deskilled descendants of earlier forms of office workers, such as bank tellers, booking clerks, insurance salespeople and telephone operators. According to Taylor and Bain (1999), most jobs in call centers were characterized as "unskilled work" which is usually labeled as an advanced form of "Taylorism", especially with regard to high time pressure. Stressing job standardization and work intensification, Ellis and Taylor (2006) claim the deskilling issue in the case of British Gas' transition from traditional clerical work to a call center.

Besides that Taylor and Bain (2004), insist on the less skilled nature of offshore call centers in the developing world, particularly in India and claim that those which may be characterized as "high volume, low value, routinized" workflows. On the other hand, Russell and Thite (2008) argue that the locational and identity masking as well as accent neutralization in offshore call centers could make call center work more rather than less skilled. Therefore, they use the term "semi-skilled work" (Russel & Thite, 2008).

The technological developments that facilitated the rapid growth of call centers not only provided mass communication over the phone, but they also allowed unprecedented levels of organization, surveillance and control over the labour process. In particular, technology allows management and supervisors to monitor the workers during the workflow (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). In call centers that apply a very strict measure of control, even short break times may be precisely defined by supervisors. For instance, in most of the call centers, workers have to raise appropriately colored cards in order to attract the attention of a supervisor to ask for a toilet or cigarette break (Taylor & Bain, 2005). The technology made it possible to organize and structure work very strictly by: setting targets for speed and amount of work to be done; measuring and monitoring output productivity and performance quality in real-time, even down to highly minute details (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014).

Emotional labour is central to the call center, where workers always have to "smile down the phone", no matter how they are being treated by customers, and it creates additional stress. As Hochschild pointed out (as cited in Baldry, et al., 2007) "emotional labour is sold for a wage and therefore has exchange value". Callaghan and Thompson (2002) claim that emotional labour is a characteristic of the call center labour process which transcends its deskilled and standardized features. As it is not possible to determine the customers' attitude, needs and behavior, managerial prescriptions cannot be adequate for every interaction. They claim that "far from being passive providers of emotional labour, employees are active and skilled emotion managers in their own right" (Callaghan & Thompson, 2002). In particular, considering the fact that the successful performance of emotional labour is measured by means of assessment of call quality in monitored calls, based on criteria such as tone of voice, choice of words, etc. As Hochschild stressed (as cited in Baldry, et al., 2007) that when the "customer is king", service workers are expected to remain polite and calm even when the customers are rude and abusive.

The spatial dimension of call centers and their uneven distribution all around the world supplies a large research agenda for scholars. In this sense, scholars mostly study globalization, the new economy and the international division of labour. For instance, Bristow et al. analyzed the distribution of call centers in the United Kingdom regions and point out that low-cost advantages of peripheral areas are attractive for companies to locate a call center in the UK (Bristow et al., 2000).

In the case of call centers, the fact that, since the service is delivered over the phone, it is not important where the phone is picked up. Thus, companies are able to relocate their service functions in countries far away from their head offices and enjoy cheap labour with relatively high skills. As Taylor and Bain (2007) argue that the "distance shrinking technologies" give opportunities of locating their call centers any place where costs can be reduced. In particular, labour costs which constitute 60% or more of total costs. In this respect, Richardson and Marshall (1999) stated eight main factors considered by firms when locating call centers:

- 1. The availability of advanced telecommunications suitable for data and voice transmission as well as being capable of hosting intelligent network services;
- 2. Telecommunications costs are also important, particularly when the call center can be located in several countries;
- 3. A pool of labour of sufficient quality to carry out the particular tasks required in the call center;
- 4. Labour costs;
- 5. Financial incentives offered by governments;
- 6. An attractive living environment to attract management and other key staff;
- 7. Low occupancy costs, rents, rates, servicing and parking;
- 8. Access to good local public transport; and in some cases national and international transport systems.

As noted above, companies usually locate centers in the Global South rather than at home (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). The best known example of offshoring in the call center sector is of course the location in India. These call centers serve the English-speaking market particularly in the US and the UK. The jobs in these centers are executed by people who are at least bilingual. These workers have refined their language skills so that the caller does not understand whether she or he has reached Hartford or Bombay. Most of them have had two or more years of university training. Moreover, they have been well trained on the job because all call centers train their workers in "human-resource skills". However, the wages for this work are "abominable", paid to highly capable people (Sennet, 2006).

Call center work and workers also have been the subject of the literature with a sociolinguistic perspective. The language demands of call centers and the standardization of interaction with customers with scripts were questioned. In her analysis of call centers in the United Kingdom with a linguistic approach, Deborah Cameron (2000) offers the term of "styling the worker" to define "commodification" of language in call center industry. She states that as long as the professional person of the call center is created entirely through speech. Therefore, call centers are a good example of service work as language work where the "commodification" and regulation of language are at their peak. She states that "scripting standardizes what is said, but styling is an attempt to standardize how it is said" (Cameron, 2000). Furthermore, she demonstrates that "styling the worker" policy is a reflection of popular consideration of "female speech styles" including expressiveness caring, empathy and sincerity. In line with Cameron, Monica Heller (2003) discusses how language turns into a marketable commodity on its own, rather than being a maker of ethno-national identity "in francophone Canada" in the case of the call center industry and also tourism.

In addition, scholars have paid attention to the nature of multilingual call center work and accent neutralization processes in offshore call centers in the developing world. Apart from Taylor and his colleagues' study on Indian call centers that serve in English and require a neutralized accent; philologists also have investigated the commodification of language in the offshore environment (Taylor & Bain, 2004). In her ethnographic study of a training agency which is responsible for neutralizing call center workers' accents, Cowie (2007) argues the interpretation of "neutral" and trainees' responses to accent training, and demonstrates the attempts to erase mother tongue influence and make workers' English a salable commodity.

It can also be mentioned that there are many call center studies with a feminist perspective which stress gender relations in the workplace. 69 % of employees in the average call center are women and this varied little across countries (Batt et al., 2009). In general, call center employment is considered a "pink-collar" field due to the feminization of employment is particularly noticeable in the call center industry (Patel, 2008). As stated by Hunt (as cited in Cantrick Brooks, 2005), call centers have also gained a prestige because of they employ a large feminized work force. One reason put forward for the high number of women in the call center industry is that women generally have the skills needed for this type of work (Belt et al., 2002). It is also associated with a part-time, flexible work schedule that allows women to do house work and still bring home an income. Belt et al. (2002) provide evidence for skills which call center managers demand from workers and how these skills are assumed as

internalized by women. They observe that "good communication skills" are absolutely crucial and "women are recruited by employers in part because they are deemed to 'naturally' possess the kinds of communication skills required." Furthermore, their interviewees stated that work in call centers requires "people skills," which are associated with team-working, "team spirit" and "friendly competition" (Belt et al., 2002). Most importantly, Belt et al. (2002) documented how employers are sincere about how they pay special attention to recruit people "with the ability to deal with repetitive and highly pressured work". The scholars claimed that in the call center environment, women were assumed to have the kind of personality suited to repetitive, yet high pressure work (Belt et al., 2002). Mulholland (2002) also claims that gendered relations are embedded in the call center environment in different ways such as flirtation, charm and sexual banter which are encouraged by the management floor in internal parts of the gendered labour process in call centers.

# CHAPTER II THE GLOBAL CALL CENTER INDUSTRY

Call centers constitute a very large economic and social phenomenon. The number employed in this industry and growth ratios are impressive. Therefore, the call center industry could be referred to as a "new frontier" of employment, and has been emerging as a new form of work (Cantrick Brooks, 2005). In this sense, Russell and Thite (2008) claim that call centers look like automobile factories or textile factories from the last century.

More phones are ringing across the world every day as the call center industry continues to grow. Figures by ÇSGB, the Turkish Ministry of Labour and Social Security, estimate that, in 2010, the call center industry had already reached a global market value of almost 340 billion dollars and employed more than 11 million call center employees (ÇSGB, 2013). There was a 20.9% growth rate between 2005 and 2009 around to world, while this growth rate is expected to remain above 12.2% for the period 2009-2013 (ÇSGB, 2013).

The call center industry is considered in four different regions in the ÇSGB Report; Europe-Middle East and Africa Region, North America Region, Latin America and Asia-Pacific Region (ÇSGB, 2013). North America Region accounts for the greatest market share in the industry 42% in 2012. USA has 90% of the call center market, and Canada has 10% of the market all over the world. Europe-Middle East and Africa Regions hold 29.7% market share, England and Germany have the largest share in this region, 23% and 13% respectively. On the other hand, Asia-Pacific Region have 19,7% market share; India has the largest share just over 30%, followed by China's 23%, and Japan has 21% market share in this region. Last, Latin America Region accounts for 8.6% of the world call center market, including Brazil with the largest share at 56%, and Mexico holds 24%. In addition, the leading sector in call center activities worldwide is financial services with 25 percentage followed by telecommunications with 18% and utilities with 9%.

Despite providing employment in many forms such as full time, part time, casual, and temporary offered through external employment agencies, no standard labour market statistic has been developed specifically for the call center industry (Cantrick Brooks, 2005). This also means that even the term call center "industry", has not yet been fully accepted. Most of the

countries do not have an industry classification for the call center work. Therefore, call center employment data is difficult to obtain, as many governments do not collect this data. This was also a major challenge to obtain the latest statistics for this dissertation.

First section of this chapter aims to present the dimensions and features of call center industries in the world. Because of the data limitations, the findings of the first major part of international call centers survey known as Global Call Center Project is mostly used in this section. The survey, which was a product of three years (2004-2007) work, covers almost 2,500 call centers and 475,000 call center employees from 18 countries. The participating countries are Austria, Brazil, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, India, Ireland, Israel, the Netherlands, Poland, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, the UK, and the US. In their global report, Holman and colleagues separate these countries into three categories; first, "Liberal Market Economies" such as USA, Canada, UK and Ireland; second, Coordinated Market Economies to refer to countries with relatively strong labour market regulations and relatively influential labour market institutions. These countries are Austria, Denmark, France, Germany, Israel, the Netherlands, Spain and Sweden. Lastly, recently industrialized or "transitional economies" such as Brazil, India, Poland, South Africa and South Korea. In this context, this section will be examining global call center industry in three subsection by following Holman and colleagues' classification. It should be underlined that not only a global report, but also individual country reports and research (Bain, 2001; Batt et al., 2004; Olivera Junior, et al., 2005; Cantrick Brooks, 2005; Frenkel et al., 2005; Sorensen & El-Salanti, 2005; Holtgrewe, 2005; Batt et al., 2005; Lee & Kang, 2006; Benner et al., 2007; Raj, 2008; Friginal, 2009; Holtgrewe et al., 2009; Çağrı Merkezleri Dernegi, 2009; Braga, 2012; ÇSGB, 2013; Torres, 2014; Pandy & Rogerson, 2014; Call Center Association, 2014; Pandy & Rogerson, 2014; Yücesan Özdemir, 2014; Cavallini, 2015;) constitute the main source of this chapter.

#### 2.1. Liberal Market Economies

Data research showed that employment in call centers grew at an estimated 20% annually in the 1990s in the advanced economies, and the number of jobs continued to increase in the following years (Raj, 2008).

Employment data show that in USA and UK, around 2.5% of the total workforce was employed in call centers at the beginning of the millennium (Raj, 2008). In this sense, it is

estimated that three percent of the total workforce in USA is employed in over 50,000 call centers in 2004 (Batt et al., 2004). In the United Kingdom, 790,000 people (2.8% of the total workforce) worked in call centers. 500,000 were employed in 14,000 Canadian call centers in 2004 (Holman et al., 2007). The numbers are significant; because, it also shows that in liberal market economies, call centers are one of the major sources of new employment.

Call centers in liberal market economies "with more relaxed labour market regulations and less influential labour market institutions" show similarities frequently (Holman et al., 2007). For instance, call centers in the USA, the UK, Canada, Ireland and Australia are dominantly in-house organizations, dealing with inbound calls, serving the national market rather than the international market. The majority of the workforce are female (percentage varies between 63 and 69, Ireland and Canada, respectively), and the leading sectors in the call center industry are always telecommunications, banking and finance.

On the other hand, the educational levels of employees change in national contexts. The percent of call centers that primarily hire college graduates is higher in Canada and Ireland, 54.1% and 40%, respectively (Holman et al., 2007). The participation of college graduates to call center workforce is below 20% in the USA, below 30% in the UK, and only 6.1% of Australian call center workers holds a three-year university education, degrees (Frenkel et al., 2005). This difference between the educational levels of employees can be understood according to target markets.

Although call centers in liberal market economies mostly serve national markets rather than international markets, Canada and Ireland represent different situations in this context. Call centers that serve internationally are much more common in these countries; 33.1% in Canada and almost 40% in Ireland are international call centers (Holman et al., 2007). On the other hand, only 1.4% in Australia, 5% in U.S. and 15% in the UK serve the international market (Frenkel et al., 2005). The Canadian and Irish experiences with call centers sample serving the developed world from the developed world. These two countries are the first destinations of call center offshoring, or as it is sometimes referred "near-shoring". In this sense there are many US and European companies which have found it "cost-efficient" to locate a call center in Canada and Ireland (Holman et al., 2007).

To conclude, call centers are one of the dramatically rising employment generators in liberal market economies. Since these countries have linguistic and cultural ties with the two biggest call center offshore countries, the USA and the UK, "offshored-outsourced" call

centers have grown significantly. Simultaneously the internationalization of call centers as well as the educational level of the workforce rises. Therefore, in the case of Canada and Ireland, multinational companies enjoy a more educated workforce with cultural and linguistic ties and governmental support in the developed world. The following pages will focus on the offshoring phenomenon in the developing world, but before that, call centers in more regulated economies should be examined.

#### 2.2. Coordinated Market Economies

In this section, call centers in Coordinated Market Economies with an emphasis on the prominent countries' experiences will be examined. In the global report, Holman et al. (2007) use the term "coordinated" or "social market" economies to refer to countries with relatively strong labour market regulations and relatively influential labour market institutions. As noted previously, these countries in the report are Austria, Denmark, France, Germany, Israel, the Netherlands, Spain and Sweden. it is also possible to add other European countries like Belgium, Finland and Italy to this list by acknowledging the similar market conditions, employee demographics, organizational structures and regulations. Although their national experiences with the call center industry cannot be considered as uniform, call centers in this type of economies are quite similar to each other.

It is estimated that there are about 300-400 call centers and that the industry employed between 20,000 and 25,000 workers in the year of 2004 in Denmark. This number constituted around 1% of the total Danish workforce (Sorensen & El-Salanti, 2005). Their report shows that Danish call center workers generally hold permanent contracts. Only 5.5% of the workers work on a temporary basis. A typical Danish worker has some kind of vocational education. However, only 8% of call center managers report that they mainly employ university graduates.

Netherlands has the second highest percentage in Europe of its population employed in the call centers. Nearly 2.5% of the Dutch workforce is employed in almost 2,000 centers (Holman et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the most important feature of the Dutch experience with the call center industry is the high presence of international call centers in the country. As, one third of Dutch call centers handle international calls and 55% of subcontractors serve international clients (Bain, 2001). It is important to note that the main reason for companies to choose the Netherlands as a headquarters for their European calls is the country's multilingual

capacity. It is estimated that "no fewer than 77% of the population speak one foreign language fluently, with 44% speaking two other languages" (Bain, 2001).

As is evident in many other national contexts, there is a positive correlation between serving the international market and the educational level of workers. In the Dutch call center industry, 52% of workers have higher secondary education and 18% have tertiary education (Holman et al., 2007). Therefore, international orientation is more frequent in subcontractor call centers, the more educated workforce participation is higher in these workplaces; 24% of workers in outsourced call centers have university educations. Subcontractors mainly employ workers on a part-time basis at 77%. This can also be understood as high student participation in outsourced call centers. Students who do call center work often quit because they have finished their educations. In this respect, it can be said that international call center work particularly in English is considered as pocket money supplier by students. Furthermore, Dutch subcontractor companies enjoy local public funding for new developments in the peripheral areas where unemployment tends to be higher (Holman et al., 2007).

According to a German report which is presented by Ursula Holtgrewe (2005), there were 2,700 call centers in the country in 2005. The report is based on a sample of 300 centers, 53.6% of which are in-house. 33.1% is service contractors and as the report introduces a category of call centers that are legally separated, but with close ties to their mother companies, 13.2% of the centers are outsourced subsidiaries. The internationalization of German call centers is very limited, especially compared to the countries like the Netherlands and Ireland. Most of the call centers serve at the national level (58.8%) and only 13.7% of all centers are serving internationally; others are regional or local call centers. In Germany, on average of 42.5% of customer service representatives in the call centers work part-time, and most of the part-time workers in German call center industry are women.

The educational level of German call center workers cannot be considered to be low. An average worker has a lower secondary education (62.4%), 39.6% of workers have higher secondary education certificates (Holtgrewe, 2005). However, workers with university degrees are quite exceptional, 10% university students constitute 9.5% of the total call center workforce in the report sample. In addition, the great majority of students, as is evident in other national contexts, are employed as part time workers.

The Swedish experience with call center industry is typical as well. For 2004, it is estimated that 60,000 employees in 1290 call centers were working in Sweden; 73% of them

are internal, 24% are external and 3% are mixed organizations (Holman et al., 2007). Female participation in the workforce is very high, 70%, as is evident elsewhere. A typical Swedish call center worker has upper secondary education but only 2% of workers have a four year university degree.

To summarize, call centers in coordinated market economies epitomize the international trends in the industry. However, in these countries where relatively strong labour institutions and regulations are more influential, trade unions and other forms of labour interest representation can still affect working conditions. In this sense, the Global Call Center Industry Report provides documents relatively a high quality of jobs, low turnover rates and low wage differences across call centers in coordinated market economies (Holman et al., 2007). Companies in these countries, beyond any doubt, seek to extend flexibility in working relations and subcontracting/outsourcing seems instrumental to transcending tradition structure of industrial relations and regulation. Employment in call centers is significantly rising, in some cases with the help of governmental organizations, particularly together with the externalization of workforce by business process reengineering.

## 2.3. Developing Countries

In this section, call centers in the developing world will be analyzed with an emphasis on the growing tendency of multinational companies to move their call centers overseas. In this sense, call centers in India, Philippines, Malaysia, South Africa, South Korea can be given examples for these countries. Brazil and Turkey also can be examined under the call centers in the developing countries' list.

In the case of call centers, serving to developed world from developing world has a history of less than 20 years. However, as will be seen in numbers, employment and market size of call centers grow significantly in the developing world. In particular, former colonies have the advantage of linguistic and cultural awareness to call center-sending countries in the competition of attracting foreign investment. Besides that, multinational companies enjoy low labour costs and governmental support in terms of tax incentives and other means. As Holtgrewe et al. (2009) observe that "lower cost is a central motive for international relocation in labour-intensive services specially, and that outsourced and offshored services are connected to a standardization of work and an intensification of monitoring".

The Indian call center industry can be considered well-researched and well-documented. Having a pool of 20 million educated, English-speaking, unemployed youth, India could be considered the "outsourcing capital of the world" (Cantrick Brooks, 2005). In 2004, the call center industry employed 245,000 people in India. This number increased to 1.1 million call center workers in 2008 (Raj, 2008). The call center phenomenon continues to grow in the major cities of India, with New Delhi, Bangalore, Hydrabad, Pune and Mumbai being among the most favored locations.

In the largest study on Indian call centers existing, which covers 60 call centers in 6 cities and a total workforce of 34,289 employees, Batt et al. (2005) state that 74% of Indian call centers serve the international market. This situation makes the country the only one among 17 countries (Austria, Brazil, Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, India, Ireland, Israel, the Netherlands, Poland, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, the UK, and the US) that dominantly serve the international market rather than national market (Holman et al., 2007).

In India the leading sector in international call center activities is banking (41%), which is followed by telecommunications (19%) and utilities (10%). International call centers primarily offer sales (39%) and (9%) services. An important feature of international call centers is that they are seven times larger than domestic operations "while international centers average 741 employees per worksite, domestic centers average 104 employees" (Batt et al., 2005). Almost every international call center employee works on a full-time basis (99.1%). A typical Indian call center worker has a bachelor's degree. It is important to stress that India produces two million college graduates per year. However, unemployment among college graduates is as high as 20% because India cannot provide jobs for a quarter of its English-speaking college graduates (Raj, 2008). On the other hand, India offers significant opportunities in terms of improved client services and greater productivity. It can be said that India has become the major offshore destination for call centers serving the markets of the developed English-speaking countries due to the presence of a large, well-educated, comparatively cheap, English-speaking workforce. It is obviously related to India's long history as a British colony (Patel, 2008). Another important factor in attracting call centers to India was the encouragement of the development by the Indian government (Raj, 2008).

In India, most call centers have their own training program. Initial training takes six weeks on average in international call centers. Not only does a typical employee in these

centers deals with 90 calls per day, but also 41% of international call centers obligate their workers to rely on scripts. Furthermore, electronic monitoring systems are dominantly employed (92%).

Besides this statistical data, some case studies which are based on workers' experiences can provide a better way to understand the other aspects of Indian call centers. In their study, Taylor and Bain (2005) state that more standardized, routine and low-valued elements of the service sector are being moved offshore. "India largely hosts an extreme version of the mass production model". Although Taylor and Bain note that most Indian call centers hope to "move up the value chain" by first proving quality in very standardized operations and then applying for more advanced, more prestigious, less scripted work. In addition, India has higher than 50% turnover rate per year (Batt et al., 2005). According to a research carried out in India by Raj (2008), it shows that call centers are facing very high turnover rates due to the pressure on workers. Many of them are unable to manage a work life balance due to the unusual working hours.

As previously noted, the Indian case has been well-researched in the call center literature by numerous case studies, however, there are other national experiences with call center offshoring to the developing world which are equally important. In the following pages, the global picture of call center will be completed by using present studies that focus on different national contexts and epitomize different aspects.

Call centers in the Philippines are much more internationalized. In 2007, there were over 150 USA based call center companies and over 50 other international call centers from Australia, the UK and other European countries located in the country (Friginal, 2009). Outsourced call centers employed around 150,000 and 170,000 Filipinos in 2008 providing services to Americans (Friginal, 2009). According to current national data, the number of call center employees in the Philippines reached 900,000 in 2013 and it is expected to increase to 1.3 million by 2016 (Torres, 2014).

Obviously, "Philippines is becoming a heavily-favored alternative to India" in terms of call center offshore-outsourcing (Friginal, 2009). According to scholars, the most important competitive advantage of the country is the high number of English-speaking college graduates in the Philippines as well as graduating over 400,000 youth with English as a second language. In this sense, the Philippines can compete with heavily populated countries like India and China (Friginal, 2009). However, the cultural difference between costumers and

overseas workers is still a problem in the Filipino context. In this sense, Friginal (2009) suggests "a well-designed language and culture training" and programs aiming at building cultural awareness for call center workers.

The South African experience with call center industry is also typical. According to a survey, there are 80,000 workers in the South African call center industry, which is greater than the call center industries in Ireland, Scotland, Italy and Spain (Benner et al., 2007). South African call center industry has approximately 14,000 new employees in 2013 and this is expected to expand to 40.000 by 2015 (Pandy & Rogerson, 2014).

South African call center industry is distinct in many ways from other national contexts. Firstly, South African call centers only serve a domestic market (Benner et al., 2007). Second, there is still a race issue in employment. Black Africans are highly underrepresented in the industry; only 27% of workers are black African who constitute the majority of total population (Benner et al., 2007). However, the white population is significantly over represented in call centers. For instance, overall while the white population makes up 9% of the total population, they comprise 35% of core workers, 33% of team leaders, and 22% of managers in the largest survey of the call center industry in South Africa (Benner et al., 2007). Besides that, female participation in the call center workforce and the educational level of workers are quite below global averages in this industry. Only 57% of call center workers in the survey sample are women. A typical South African call center worker is less-educated than his or her colleagues in other countries (Benner et al., 2007). Only 2% of the workers hold a university degree and a majority of them (84%) has a high school certificate.

According to a national survey of Korean call centers, the call center industry is becoming an important service and employment generator in this country, as elsewhere (Lee & Kang, 2006). One of the important features in the Korean call center industry is externalization. The non-regular employment of call center workers constitutes 90.8% for inhouse call centers, 39.2% at subcontractors. In this sense, 93% of total workers are externalized in various forms of non-regular employment. In scholars' words the employment of Korean call centers is "externalized" to an "extreme extent" (Lee & Kang, 2006). This situation also paves the way for a union-free environment in the Korean call center industry and scholars claim the feminization of workforce as another factor of the low unionization in Korea (Lee & Kang, 2006). It is important to note that the Korean call center workforce is the

most feminized one in the surveyed countries for the Global Call Center Project (Holman et al., 2007).

In general, there is a correlation between the internationalization of call center activities and the education level of the call center workforce, but the Korean experience with call centers represents an exception. Although only 1.6% of call centers in the country serve international market, workers in Korea are highly educated with 38.5% of them holding 2 year college degrees and 28.7% have 4 year college degrees and above (Lee & Kang, 2006). On the other hand, governmental support for Korean call centers is very low; only 7% of workers in the surveyed call centers had participated in government-supported training programs.

Brazilian call center industry is another example of the high externalization of employment. First of all, Brazil has the largest market share 56% in the Latin America Region of call center industry. According to Alava (2012), Brazil has the best labour skills in the Latin America Region, while Argentina has the cost advantage, and Chile has the best business environment. Therefore, Brazilian call center industry has been growing faster than the other Latin America countries. Today, more than 1.4 million workers are employed in call center industry (Cavallini, 2012). It was 1,200 million in 2010 (Braga, 2012). The number of call center employees has grown 15% between 1998 and 2000, and during the Lula government it has grown to 20%, resulting in an accumulated growth 182.3% in the period from 2003 to 2009 (Braga, 2012). The leading sector in call center activities in Brazil is financial services, following by retail, telecommunications, insurance, and healthcare. The banking service is the pioneer in the call center industry; 45% of telemarketers work in customer service, while 22% work in telesales, 23% in credit recovery and 10% in other activities (Cavallini, 2015).

According to the global report, 53% of call centers in the sample are subcontractors, unlike the global domination of in-house call centers. The sample of this survey represented a proportion of 53% of outsourced and 47% in-house call center. However, in the number of call centers, 89% of them are outsourced, showing a trend in the Brazilian market for "third-party call center" providers (Holman et al., 2007). On the other hand, the vast majority of Brazilian call center workers are employed on a full-time basis (87%).

Internationalization of Brazilian call centers is still low (2.6%), although 22% of workers hold college degree. In this sense, the large majority of call center workers has high school degree, representing 74% of total. When the analysis split the database in in-house and outsourced, the percentage of college operators is 33% for in-house and 12% for outsourced call centers (Olivera Junior, et al., 2005). This situation can be considered as a result of the language barrier. Portuguese-speaking world is very small comparing to English-speaking one and "producing a sufficient number of English speakers remains a challenge for Brazil" (Holman, et al., 2007). Brazilian call center workers are young and female; 76.2% of workers are women (Olivera Junior, et al., 2005). It is important to note that research carried out in Brazil by Braga (2012), Brazilian call center workers are predominantly black women with 70%. The great majority of call centers is in the most significant markets, especially in the state of Sao Paulo. But there are also call centers in several other states, and some great companies have call centers in several sites spread throughout several cities (Olivera Junior, et al., 2005).

Call centers in Turkey which have gradually increased in numbers in recent years, and have prevailed particularly in banking and telecommunication sectors. There are 1000 call centers where 80 thousand workers are employed in 2014 (Call Center Association, 2014). Economical bigness of the market is at the level of 374 million dollars in 2013 (Call Center Association, 2014). According to the Ministry of Labour and Social Security' report, the telecommunication and banking sectors are 40 percent of total call center activities in Turkey (ÇSGB, 2013).

Turkish call centers have grown by 4.1%, reaching to 979 in 2009; 948 of these centers are owned and managed by larger companies (Call Center Association, 2014). The growth of outsourcers has also been rapid which has grown from 18 to 31 in a two-year period. In this respect, it can be said that Turkey is one of the countries which mainly outsource their call center services. Such workplaces generally have large scale working organizations employing a high number of workers and providing services not only for one sector but for various sectors. The target of international companies about giving the service of call center to Europe and the Middle East over Turkey. The customers of companies such as Siemens Business Services, Siemens Mobile, and Toshiba who call from abroad have been responded from Turkey (Çağrı Merkezleri Dernegi, 2009).

As in all over the world, in Turkey too, the call center workers generally consist of youth and women. The sources state that 69% of call center workers are female, and only one out of five of total workforce is over 30 years old. According to one source, 45% of workers are between 25 and 29 years old; 24% is between 18 and 21 years old. 45.5% of workers hold university degrees (Çağrı Merkezleri Dernegi, 2009). In this sense, almost the half of the Turkish call workers is higher education graduate or university student. Considering that 50% of call centers in Turkey are active in banking and telecommunication sector, it is possible to say that current data on banking sector will be able to give clues to call centers. A report prepared by The Banks Association of Turkey, in banking sector, 22% of the call center workers have graduated from high school, 36 % have preliminary bachelor degrees, 40% have bachelor degrees and 2% have master and doctorate degrees. 71% of the call center workers are women, 72% are customer representative and supportive service personnel, and 66% are managers (Çağrı Merkezleri Dernegi, 2009).

Considering the regional distribution of call centers, Istanbul can be claimed to be the city where the intensity of workplaces is the highest. Since call centers usually employ university students or graduates, Istanbul has the largest population with the university education in the country. In-house call centers are usually settled close to existing concentrations of allied activity or as a department in the company's head-office. Therefore, Istanbul as a trade, financial and industrial center is also a centre for call center activities. Additionally, the call center service supplier companies tend to locate their centers in Istanbul in order to be close to parent companies (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014). On the other hand, it is important to note that a lot of call centers have been recently set up in smaller cities, particularly in the eastern regions of Turkey. Erzurum, Erzincan, Diyarbakır, Malatya are some of these cities. Although it seems as if big companies want to create job opportunities by investing in these cities within the scope of social responsibility projects, the underlying reason is to gain cost advantage, which is the case all over the world (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014).

To summarize, call centers are one of the biggest employment generators in these countries. Using technology, organizational structure as well as workers demographics are quite similar in liberal or coordinated market economies. However, call centers and call center workers in the developing world have distinctive characteristics. In the case of labour force, workers in the developing world are more educated than other countries. Therefore, companies can take advantage of the more skilled, more "professional" and loyal workforce

when they relocate their call centers to the developing world. Governments in these countries also welcome call center investments in order to create employment and adapt their countries to global capitalism.

# CHAPTER III CALL CENTERS and TRADE UNIONS

The chapter is organized into two main sections. The first section is going to argue some aspects of the unions' crisis, especially the impact of neoliberal policies upon unionization rates. Studies on union organizing in call centers will be argued in the following section where this dissertation will be concluded.

### 3.1. The Crisis of Trade Union Movement

The "Golden Age" of the capitalist system from the Second World War until the late 1970s had led to a certain model of trade union. However, the golden age of capitalism faced a generalized capitalist crisis that appeared in the early 1970s. According to Dumenil and Levy (2005), the reasons of the economic crisis were the falling rates of profits which was an obvious fact in the 70s, brought about reduced growth rates, expanding wave of unemployment, and increasing inflation.

This overturn in the world economy was an over accumulation crisis according to Harvey (1992). In his crisis theory, capitalism ontologically needs a surplus for coming into existence and growing which makes the system systemically unstable (Harvey, 1992). If the surplus produced in capitalism does not find a way out to be reinvested so as to maintain the accumulation regime, capitalist system enters an over-accumulation crisis. There can be various constraints, trouble spots disrupt the accumulation process such as market constraints, labour constraints, technology constraints. According to him, capitalism needs a "spatial fix" to overcome the surplus absorption problem. The temporal and spatial displacements of the fixes surpluses were piling up at some parts of the world, and this displacement and accumulation fix processes has been the main tool of capitalism as a solution of over accumulation crisis (Harvey,1992). Therefore, an ideological structuration known as neoliberalism emerged as a reaction to this crisis (Clarke, 2008). In other words, one of the most important strategies of capital is to seek the restructuring of the organization of production, as a part of the process of reorganization of class relations, favoring the capital via neoliberal ideology (Akçay, 2008). In this sense, neo-liberalism can be considered as an instrument

which breaks down the obstacles and restrictions that hinder the capitalist accumulation process.

In Harvey's view, conceptualizing neo-liberalism has developed in order to overcome the capitalist accumulation crisis while causing detrimental effects in the economic, social and political spheres (Harvey, 2005). Indeed, transformation of Keynesianism into neoliberalism required the reconstruction of a new relationship between state, society and the markets which is why a set of policy has been put into practice from the 1980s onwards. In this respect, concept of neoliberalism in western countries is associated with the government of Thatcher in the UK and the government of Reagan in the US which came to power in the late 1970s (Harvey, 2005). For instance, the development paradigm for Third World countries which was dominant during 1950s and 1960s came to end with the introduction of neoliberalism through the adoption of structural adjustment programs which were imposed by International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank (WB) (Harvey, 1992). In other words, neoliberal policies have been adopted by several key transnational actors, in particular, the IMF, World Trade Organization and the WB.

Recent developments in world economy based on neo-liberal policies such as the evolution from Fordist to Post-Fordist production, consumption and organizational structure have enabled the system to reproduce itself by renewing production and consumption patterns in spite of crises. Fordism brought about the concept of mass consumption along with mass production which had led to the commodification of life in every sphere. Post-Fordism, on the contrary, is consumption-oriented rather than production-oriented and its form of production is based on fragmented markets instead of mass production (Munck, 2002).

Fordism led to a fragmented division of labour by creating various detailed job tasks, and this fragmentation in occupational life constituted the basic characteristic of Fordist system of production. On the other side, Post-Fordism has carried out flexible production to have various commodities for various sectors and flexible labour to produce these. The production process can be inside the small workshops or outside the workplace when needed, following Post-Fordist production organization (Müftüoğlu, 2007). Thus, small teams of multi-tasking workers are present according to low-cost production demand, instead of rigid assembly line of Fordism.

Changes in technology meanwhile have had an effect on the worker's environment as well. Deskilling of labour in new automated environment of production has weakened the control of workers in the production process which undermine the strength of unionized workers in manufacturing sectors. Furthermore, the expansion of technology has made more direct, faster communication possible over greater distances. Fax machine, Internet, and cellular networks have greatly expanded the scope and speed of business decisions and have therefore deepened the possibilities for remote management and logistic coordination across large distances. At the same time, advances in technology have also allowed an increase in the human flows across borders, even though these numbers are low in comparison to those for information and financial transactions. Through enhanced logistical capacities, flexible production practices and the liberalization of capital flows nationally and sub-nationally, the dominant trend has been for capital to increase its mobility at the expense of labour (Castree et al., 2004).

As a matter of fact, since the mid-70's there has been a strong push from the US – operating largely through its unparalleled influence on the IMF and World Bank – for a global convergence towards an idealized, unregulated state regime founded on neo-liberal economic theory. As a result, countries whose economies are the most integrated into the global financial and economic system have often entered financial crises whose detrimental effects are getting more and more widespread. In last two decades, financial crisis firstly appeared in developing or transition countries or regions such as East Asia, Russia, Brazil, Turkey and Argentina and then in advanced economies such as in the United States and the EU in 2008 (Bakvis, 2009). In the last crisis, governments have played important role and realized the huge bail-outs which soars budget deficits. The huge budget deficits has led governments to follow austerity regimes characterized by cuts in public spending and in health care, reductions in pensions, freezing of the minimum wage, capping or holding back wage increases even covered by collective bargaining and massive lay-offs. Fundamental workers rights, particularly in the public sector, have also been targeted as part of austerity measures (Serrano, et.al., 2011). Evidently, increasing unemployment rate owing to austerity policies has undermined bargaining power of unions and workers, which brings about informality. As a result, increasing subcontractor activities and atypical employment models has dominated the labour markets (Yücesan Özdemir, 2014).

In general, there are two main factors, internal and external, for trade unions crisis. External factors, as noted above, affecting the union density rates negatively can be characterized by globalization, unemployment, flexibilization, sectoral shifts in production and increasing participation of young and female workers (Müftüoğlu, 2007). Trade unions, which are structured during the Fordist period have unfortunately had difficulty in adapting to new production environment. Transformation from Fordist to post-Fordist production system have brought about the fragmentation of workers like central and peripheral. Thus, while the number of workers has been increasing all over the world, the unionization rate has been declining in both absolute and relative sense.

Internal factors that originate from union structure should also be contemplated to get deeper insight on union crisis. In this regard, Richard Hyman (1992) claims that crisis of trade unions arise from difficulties in adaptation to new working environment and their conventional way of functioning. In other words, the crisis of trade unions is not only limited with their weakening strength and impact but they also suffer from lack of ideology which unable them to join ideological debates (Hyman, 2001). According to Moody (1997), it is not simply matter of declining in unionization; the crisis of trade unions does stem from the ideologies and structures that determine their functionality. In this context, the primary internal factor endangering unions is the bureaucratic and hierarchic structure which keep workers away from decision-making. This is why workers are hesitating joining unions in which they are doubtful. For instance, Lerner (1998), in his study on trade unionism in USA, points out some aspects of the internal factors which debilitates union strength.

"some union leaders became complacent, satisfied with servicing existing members; others feared risking a serious drain on resources in protracted struggles if they lost and a shift in internal union politics with a changed constituency if they won; still others chose to focus on changing labour law to create a more favorable climate for organizing" (Lerner, 1998).

As a result of these external and internal factors, in many countries, trade unions gradually have lost their members while their traditional means of struggle at national level, including collective bargaining and strikes have become less effective. The most accessible way to track the impact of capitalism on organized labour in countries which are active in the global market is to look at union densities in these countries. In other words, as stressed by scholars, membership is a key power source for trade unions to negotiate collective bargaining and their relations with governments and society (Gall, 2003). In the following

figure, union density refers to the percentage of unionized workers to the total active workforce. In Figure 2, overall averages of union membership rates for OECD countries are provided for the period between 1960 and 2010.

40,0 35,0 20,0 10,0 5,0 10,0 5,0 20,00 5,0 20,00 5,0 20,00 5,0 20,00 5,0 20,00 5,0 20,00 5,0 20

Figure 2: Union Membership Rates Average in OECD Countries(1960-2010)

Source: Created from OECD Database, (http://www.oecd.org/statistics/, Accessed, 02.03.2015

As shown in Figure 2, average unionization rate for 31 member countries of the OECD (except Iceland, Slovenia and Israel) was around 34% from 1960 to the end of 1970s, however, as of 1980 when neoliberal policies firstly introduced in the USA and the UK, that rate have declined dramatically and lowered to less than 20% in 2010.

**Table 1:Union density in selected OECD Countries (1960-2010)** 

Countries	1960	1965	1970	1975	1980	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010
Australia	50.2	47.9	44.2	50.1	48.5	45.5	39.6	32.5	25.7	22.3	18.4
Austria	67.9	66.2	62.8	59	56.7	51.6	46.9	41.1	36.6	33.3	28.4
Belgium	39.3	37.8	39.9	49.1	51.3	49.7	51.1	52.8	56.2	53.7	53.8
Canada	29.2	26.7	31	34.3	34	35.3	34	33.7	28.2	27.7	27.4
Denmark	56.9	58.2	60.3	68.9	78.6	77.5	74.6	75.9	73.9	70.7	67
Finland	31.9	38.3	51.3	65.3	69.4	69.1	75.5	80.4	75	70.6	69.1
France	19.6	19.5	21.7	22.2	18.3	13.6	9.8	8.7	8	7.7	7.7
Germany	34.7	32.9	32	34.6	34.9	34.7	31.2	29.2	24.6	21.7	18.6
Italy	24.7	25.5	37	48	49.6	42.5	38.8	38.1	34.8	33.6	35.5
Japan	32.9	35.3	35.1	34.5	31.1	28.8	26.1	24.4	21.5	18.8	18.4
Korea	no data	11.6	12.6	15.8	14.7	12.4	17.2	12.5	11.4	9.9	9.7
Netherlands	41.7	37.4	36.5	37.8	34.8	27.7	24.6	25.9	22.9	20.6	18.6
Norway	60	59	56.8	53.8	58.3	57.5	58.5	57.3	54.4	54.9	53.7
Sweden	72.1	66.3	67.7	74.5	78	81.3	80	83.1	79.1	76.5	68.2
Switzerland	31	28.2	24.9	27.8	27.5	24.8	22.5	22.7	20.2	19.3	17.1
Un. Kingdom	38.8	38.7	43	42	49.7	44.2	38.1	33.1	30.2	28.4	26.4
United States	30.9	28.2	27.4	25.3	22.1	17.4	15.5	14.3	12.9	12	11.4

**Source:** Created from OECD Database, (http://www.oecd.org/statistics/, Accessed, 02.03.2015.

As can be seen in Table 1, France has lost almost three-quarters of its trade union membership from 1960 to 2010; Germany, Japan and the US have lost half of their trade union members in the same period. In addition to the table, Portugal (from 1980 to 1990) and New Zealand (from 1990 to 2000) have lost almost half of their trade union members in only 10 years, according to the OECD (2015).

In terms of union density rates, there are significant differences between the Coordinated Market Economies and the Liberal Market Economies. Especially in the LMEs, such as the US and UK, have witnessed dramatic declines in union density. In these countries, collective bargaining level is another factor in rate of unionization because of the collective bargaining at enterprise level rather than the sectoral or national level (Thelen, 2001). For example, lack of sectoral bargaining and extension mechanisms has also played crucial role in falling collective bargaining coverage in the UK (Thelen, 2001). Moreover, unions' activities have been restricted by the government through legal arrangements which hinders union

representation and/or interrupts the collective bargaining (Bernaciak, et.al., 2014). Furthermore, challenges of unions have been aggravated since 2008 by the impact of the global financial crisis where governments have played decisive role to favor the financial capital against the labour rights.

As seen in the table, union density in Canada is considerably higher than in the United States, however it is still low comparing to countries in the EU. According to Bickerton and Stinson (2008), almost all of the reduction in union density in Canada took place in the private sector, which declined from 29% to 19%. For the past 25 years the union density in the public sector has remained constant at about 75% which shows the significance of public sector for the Canadian labour movement (Bickerton & Stinson, 2008). Although the major change in employment in Canada over the past few decades has not been the growth of the informal economy, existing working rights have eroded significantly such low wages, less hours of work, contract less than a year and cuts in social and economic benefits. The 1990s were marked by increases in self-employment, homework, on-call work, part-time and temporary work (Bickerton & Stinson, 2008).

On the other hand, the CMEs represented by states such as Finland, Sweden, Denmark were also affected by the union crisis. Although the institutional strength of labour in these countries has maintained in a system based on social dialog between the employers and the unions, conventional working relations have been changed either. Coverage and level of collective agreements has undergone a change in these countries, especially in Sweden and Germany since 1980 (Visser, 2006).

The picture of divergence in unionization rate can be observed from the results of time lapse surveys of Western Europe conducted by Ebbinghaus and Visser. Looking at 16 unions in Western Europe, they found out that union density in Western Europe declined from 40 to 34 percent from 1980 to 1990 (Ebbinghaus & Visser, 1999). According to their survey findings, with the exception of France, bargaining coverage has suffered from similar downturns. The sharpest fall was in Britain, where union density declined from 51% in 1979 to 33% in 1995. Some countries have seen very little decline (Sweden) or have had initial losses, followed by gains (Spain), while in a few countries (Denmark and Finland) that density rose slightly. Evidently, tradition of social dialog in these countries has led to much smaller fluctuations in unionization rates because the assured role of unions within the

bargaining system reduced the risk and increased the desirability of negotiating rather than imposing economic changes, and increased the cost of employers decentralizing the bargaining structure (Thelen, 2001).

Obviously there was a significant influence of the last financial crisis exploded in 2008 on labour movements around the world. First of all, even though official statistics often understate real level of unemployment, there is clearly growing informality in working conditions usually associated with relatively low unionization. Spain and Italy as the members of the Eurozone were first countries implemented radical cuts in public expenditure and public employment and then to more systematic changes in the industrial relations regimes, coordinated by the European Central Bank (ECB) (Bernaciak, et.al., 2014). Greece and Portugal also suffered from brutal intervention of the Troika in national industrial relations. Decentralisation of collective bargaining, reductions in minimum wages and the removal or restriction of social provisions were some instruments for the Troika to put the burden of crisis on the people. The most dramatic outcome was in Portugal, where the number of workers covered by collective agreements fell from 1.9 million in 2008 to 0.3 million in 2012 (Bernaciak, et.al., 2014). Consequently, during the recent crisis, social and collective bargaining systems in the region have been inflicted seriously as a result of austerity policies coordinated by the Troika.

Trade union movements in developing countries also were not able to escape from the impact of recent developments in global capitalism. Especially there was a drastic change in unionization rate in South Korea and South Africa as the leading actors of *social movement unionism* (Waterman, 1993). As seen in Table 1, in South Korea, union membership levels increased from 14.7% to 17.2% between 1980 and 1990. In absolute terms, it rose from 1 million to 1.9 million between 1987 and 1989 due to the exploding of "social movement unionism" in South Korea (Chun, 2008). However, with the financial crisis in 90s and neoliberal flexible working conditions advised by the IMF, union density dropped dramatically from 17.2% in 1990 to 11.4% in 2000. According to official statistics, in South Africa union density steadily increased from 15.4% in 1979 to 27.6% in 1985 (Pillay, 2008). It reached a peak of 57% in 1992, before dipping and then rising to 57.5% in 1996. However, the South African economy started follow global trends since middle of the 1990s, which led to increasing unemployment and informalization of labour as well as increasing social inequality. In 2006, unionization rate in the South Africa is estimated 34% (Pillay, 2008).

Brazilian labour market during the 1990s transformed itself into a mechanism for shutting out the workforce, expanding the industrial reserve army and reducing dramatically the share of labour in national income from 42% to 36%, according to Jakobsen and Freitas Barbosa (2008). New forms of social exclusion emerged, and informality spread out to all sectors and regions. Unemployment has increased from 3% to 10 % between 1989 and 2001. Nevertheless, the level of union density has remained stable at 16.7% in this period (Jakobsen & Freitas Barbosa, 2008). Unionization rate in Brasil recently has decreased slightly to 15.7% in 2013.

In the case of Turkey, by 1980, Turkey joined the general global tendency of shifting to neo-liberal reforms and opening its domestic market. The coup d'etat and military government formed on 12th September 1980 acted very hard to suppress growing labour movement in the country in 1970s. By 1990s when Turkish labour movement revitalized at least in formal sense, encountered with neo-liberal reforms including privatization, changing the working regimes or flexibility in working relations, pressure on wage increases, temporary works and unemployment. In the 2000s, unionization rate has fallen from 10% to below 6%. According to the Ministry of Labour, by July 2015, there are 12 million 744 thousand workers covered by social security, as well as 1 million 429 thousand unionized workers which in turn corresponds to an overall unionization rate of 11.2% (ÇSGB, 2015). However, in Turkey there are only 750.000 workers benefited from collective agreements which makes 5.5% of registered workers. In addition to that, although there are 138 trade unions, according to the Labour Act, only 46 of these unions are eligible to make a collective agreement.

Finally, economics and social transformations undergone over the last few decades have globally challenged trade unions, but their local responses has varied greatly. As noted previously, while many unions saw dramatic declines in their membership, others experienced very little. However, institutional differences should be underlined to find the source of their continuing disparity.

#### 3.2. Importance of Organizing

Although there is a decline in unionization rates, trade unions continue to represent millions of workers, remain the most influential voice of workers. Today, there are significant efforts to revitalize themselves in order to "provide more effective voices for changing workforces as well as regain their previous influence with employers and in public policy"

(Fiorito & Gall, 2012). This is why struggles of trade unions are characterized by efforts passing up the defense position, fighting back and getting reorganized.

Today, unions may well restate their identity and goals, and may substantially define again their role in society and politics according to Hyman (2001). Revitalization effort of trade unions has been an area of growing academic interest. In particular, in recent decades, a significant literature has emerged looking for trade union strategies for the revitalization. Out of these proposed strategies, Frege and Kelly (2004), in their book "Varieties of Unionism: Strategies for Union Revitalization in a Globalizing Economy" identify following six strategies:

- 1-Organizing among rank and file,
- 2- Organizational restructuring,
- 3- Building coalitions,
- 4- Developing social partnerships with employers,
- 5- Political actions,
- 6- Fostering international links

It should be noted that these strategies are deducted from experiences of union movements to recover their debilitated role in the society. Following to Frege and Kelly's view, this dissertation will be focusing on an organizing strategy predicated on all these six strategies. Therefore, the main purpose of this study is to investigate previous academic literature studied on union organizing in call centers in respect to this strategy.

Organizing is a necessary action of unions that arises from their status in the production process. Luz and Finn (1998) addresses the main reasons why they need to organize:

"In order to represent a greater percentage of workers in a given industry, and thus to strengthen the union's hand at the bargaining table; to expand political power as a result of representing greater numbers; to bring the benefits of union voice and union contracts to workers who toil without them. In addition, union must also organize in order to build political movement capable of representing all workers" (Luz & Finn, 1998).

Likewise, Frege and Kelly (2004) link union organizing up with the membership dimension, in principle, create and reinforce workplace representation which has influences on "mobilizing capacity" and economic bargaining power of the unions. As it is strongly underlined in the literature, union organizing in rank and file is essential for their revitalization process; therefore, organizing practices has became principle point in the agenda of trade unions especially since 1990s.

In terms of organizing practices there are obviously differences between experiences of national movements, for instance, while organizing is the primary issue for some countries it is the secondary for others (Heery & Adler, 2004). The reasons why the revitalization strategies of the trade unions demonstrates a difference, indeed, is also related with the development level of countries. For instance, in the US and the UK, union organizing has become a priority for national leaders and a focus of policy, while in Germany, Italy and Spain recruitment initiatives has become a more central rather than organizing (Heery & Adler, 2004).

Union organizing has been a central issue among unions for more than 20 years in both the UK and U.S (Fiorito & Gall, 2012). In the case of USA, the AFL-CIO (*American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations*) has prioritized organizing and sought to direct resources towards it. The AFL-CIO fostered affiliated unions to allocate 30% of their resources to "organising new members and to develop comprehensive organising programs" (Gall, 2009). In 1989, The Organizing Institute was built by the AFL-CIO and later launched the Union Summer and Union Cities Programmes in 1996 (Frege & Kelly, 2004). In this period, American unions also set up organizing departments, and training programmes on organizing activities. However, despite these attempts, trade unions again found themself on the retreat by the mid-2000s (Gall, 2009). As a matter of fact, in the case of USA as of 2000s, trade unions look like focusing on union organizing, however, the data display that only few trade unions are concentrating on the organizing activity (Hurd et al., 2003).

In the UK, British unions have set out focusing on organizing since mid 90s. As Frege & Kelly (2004) addressed, in Britain organizing activities are carried out principally in two ways; "firstly by going further than just recruitment, involving the workers themselves in the process of collective organization and secondly be merely focusing on recruitment through representation offer and services". Organizing Academy, established by the TUC (Trades Union Congress) in 1998, is another effort of British labour movement for organizing.

According to some scholars, organizing activities of British labour movement are influenced from the developments in the US for organizing like founding an organizing academy (Heery & Adler, 2004). Within this framework, organizing efforts of labour movements in Australia, Canada and New Zealand can also be counted as successful examples (Gall, 2009).

According to some scholars, organizing new group of workers should also be taken in consideration in order for the revitalization. Organizing these workers and tackling potential difficulties in representing their interests are attempts to "enlarge the playing field of unionism" (Gall, 2003). This is why Buchanan et al. points (as cited in Cantrick Brooks, 2005) the service sector to organize, and stress that one of the major and significant challenges for "the future unionism is to successfully recruit and mobilize middle and low skill service workers". According to them, unions need to first strengthen their "heartland" industries and use this strong base to reach into non-traditional areas of employment such as call centers. As examined in Chapter 1, call centers can be considered as the best illustration of actual working conditions in workplaces where "young, cheap, flexible and disorganized" work is characterized the new type of work in 21st century (Akçay, 2008).

## 3.3. Union Organizing in Call Centers

Although call centers have been the subject of many academic studies around the world for more than twenty years, little attention has been paid to determinants of the union organization in call centers. In other words, the role of trade unions is still "neglected" and their influence is "underestimated" in the call center literature (Bain & Taylor, 2002). When looking through the call center literature on union organizing, most of the studies are focused on call center workers' perception on becoming union members (Cantrick-Brooks, 2005; Bain & Taylor, 2002; Russel, 2005; Braga, 2007, 2012), challenges on organizing workers from trade union perspective (Bibby, 2000; Noronha & D'Cruz, 2006; Bain & Taylor, 2002; Taylor et al., 2009; Braga, 2012), and detailed qualitative case studies of union organizing and unionization efforts in call centers (Sandhu, 2006; Fisher, 2004; Bain & Taylor, 2002). Besides that there has been little studies on formal and informal resistance practices of call center workers (Akçay, 2008; Mulholland, 2004). This will be also examined in this section. However, before going into the content and objectives of the current studies, it might be useful to summarize trade union representation in call center industry.

Holman and colleagues' research indicate that just under 50% of call centers in the international data base had some form of collective representation, namely, unions and work councils. 35% were covered by union agreements or unions plus work councils (Batt, Holman, & Holtgrewe, 2009). Collective representation is the highest in CMEs with 71%, the lowest in LMEs 22%, and in developing countries 36%.

In the CMEs, 71% of call center workers have some form of collective representation; 18% has union agreements only, 14% has work councils only, and 39% has union agreements plus work councils (Batt et al., 2009). These high levels reflect the fact that most call centers in CMEs continue operating in-house centers with collective bargaining agreements and interest representation.

The most important common feature of these countries is a high percentage of trade union representation compared to call centers in LMEs and the developing world. In the CMEs, collective bargaining has been established between unions and employers associations at the industry or sectoral level for a long time (Holman et al., 2007). 70% of call centers in a Swedish report state that workers are represented by trade unions(Holman et al., 2007). 68% of Dutch call center workers are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Half of the call centers in France are under union representation. Furthermore, labour market regulations like "by law, any firm in the Netherlands with more than 50 employees is required to have a work council" (Holman et al., 2007). Undoubtedly, the presence of unions has directly affects on job quality, pay levels and employee satisfaction. Therefore, turnover rate is low in these countries as well as absenteeism and quit rates.

The national industrial relations systems also influence presence and bargaining power of workplace representatives as work councils. In the call center sector, work councils or equivalent representatives are present in about half of the workplaces in Austria, Germany and Denmark, with higher proportions in France, the Netherlands and Spain. In this respect, Germany stands out, with only 22% of call centers having both workplace representatives and unions compared to 40% or more in the other countries (Doellgast et al., 2009).

Besides that, collective bargaining coverage in all countries is higher for workers in inhouse centers than subcontractor centers. However, the difference depends on the national institutional framework as well. For instance, in Austria, 65% of in-house workers are covered by collective bargaining agreements compared to 55% of those in subcontractor centers (Doellgast et al., 2009).

The LMEs countries have the lowest collective representation rate (22%) in this industry. In the LMEs, industrial relations systems are quite decentralized and collective bargaining typically occurs at the firm level or lower. It causes large differences in wages across industries, across firms in the same industry, and even across worksites in the same firm (Holman et al., 2007). A further issue is the trend in these countries moving away from collective bargaining towards the use of individual contracts. This development fits well with the management style and work culture of call centers. It individualizes the nature of relationship between employer and employee and offers an extra challenge to the task of trade unions in organizing these workplaces. In discussing unionization of call centers in Britain, Gall, Bain, and Taylor (2001) state,

"Call centers have a relatively low level of union density, recognition and workplace organization". They go on to identify factors such as "composition of the workforce, often young, female and transient, the nature of the work white collar and relatively low skilled, the management control strategies deployed and the special location" (Gall, et. al, as cited in Cantrick Brooks, 2005).

Besides that, only 10% of call centers workers in the USA is covered by collective bargaining agreements while 16% of Canadian call center workers has collective bargaining agreements. It is important to note that Canada and the US have no work councils legislation. On the other hand, Ireland and the UK draw a more colorful picture comparing coverage rate within the USA and Canada; they have collective bargaining coverage 35% and 46% respectively (Holman et al., 2007).

In developing countries, 36% of call center workers has some form of collective representation. In the case of South African call centers, 25% are covered by a collective bargaining that is lower than international average (Benner et al., 2007). In South Korea and Poland, collective agreements cover less than 10% call center workers (Holman et al., 2007). In the Philippines, the call center situation is worse than the other countries. Reese and colleagues' research indicate that there is still not union recruitment among the call center workers (Reese & Soco-Carreon, 2013). In Brazil, 50.4% of call center workers are unionized workers; 42,1% of workers are unionized in subcontractor centers while this rate is 62,9% in in-houses call centers, according to the national report (Olivera Junior, et al., 2005).

In the Turkish case, collective organizing in labour relations has a limited power, especially, collective organizing practices among white collar workers as well as call center workers. Until the new Trade Union Law numbered 6356 in 2012 call centers had not been defined as a separate branch of work in the Turkish Industrial Relations system. Ministry of Labour and Social Security had put call center labour under the large category of "Commerce, Office, Education and Fine Arts"<sup>1</sup>. As a result, some call center workers have been organized under a non-union workers' association since 2006, The Association of Call Center Workers. This association was founded as a web site under the name of "gercegecagrimerkezi.org" whose name is literally translated into English as "call for truth". This was no different from a standard forum where people sharing legal information, any injustice and negative things that employees encountered as well as meetings and protests organized by the association. As a result of the legal changes in 2012, the introduction of new Trade Union Law in Turkey, branches of work were re-defined and there was no longer a barrier to call center workers organizing under the umbrella of a union within the scope of the communication branch of work. Following this legal change, "Progressive Communication and Call Center Workers Union" (Dev İletişim-İŞ) was founded in May 2013, which is mainly managed by the founders of Association of Call Center Workers. According to official data, this new trade union has 56 official members although there are 61.945 workers in the communication branch (ÇSGB, 2015).<sup>2</sup>

Looking closely at academic literature to research on union organizing, individual and collective aspect of perceptions of the call center workers has been well-discussed and well-researched in relation to young people becoming members of unions. Some scholars claim that young people might have a negative idea towards collectivism and that they might have individualistic ideas about becoming union members because these young workers believe that their employment is temporary (Cantrick Brooks, 2005).

Field research findings also support this individualized character of the workers in this industry. For instance, a survey by Taylor and Bain showed that the profile of union members

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to Trade Unions and Collective Labour Agreements Act No 6356, trade unions are being set up on the basis of industry (sector) principle. Although Turkish unions are organized on the basis of industry collective bargaining occurs at workplace not industry level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is important to note that according to Law 6356, trade unions have to represent at least 1 percent of the total number of employees in the concerned sector to have the right to collective bargaining. Apart from the sectoral threshold, at the workplace level is at 50% plus 1; at the enterprise level this threshold is set to be 40% plus 1. At this point, Progressive Communication and Call Center Workers Union must organize more than 7 thousand workers to have collective bargaining right.

in call centers is "the prototype of white collars those individualized, atomized and antipathetic against trade unionism" (Bain & Taylor, 2002). They presented trade union experiences at six call centers in the UK finance sector. In their words,

"When one considers both the composition of the workforce and the extent of trade union membership, there appears to be an interesting polarity. These are largely female workforces, composed on the one hand of many young workers with little if any employment history and who, if they join the union, are doing so for the first time. On the other hand, there are sizeable cohorts of more experienced workers with a trade union past. Such a profile contradicts the oft-used 'Generation X' stereotype of the call centre worker. This crude caricature portrays the call centre workforce as composed wholly of young workers who are individualized, atomized and antipathetic to trade unionism" (Bain & Taylor, 2002).

Andrew Bibby's research (2000) for the UNI Global Union also indicates that the call center workers are quite young and lack class consciousness. As one German union stresses,

"Young workers often regard trade unions as overtaken by events and antiquated. They consider the unions have no solutions for the new conditions of customer-orientated service companies. Solutions from the industrial sector and union dispute settlement methods are considered inappropriate. Trade unions just disrupt flexible processes, it is felt" (Bibby, 2000).

Research also carried out in Brazil by Braga (2012) shows lack of political experience as these workers are young and new to the labour market organizational challenges. From unions perspective, his research points out that call center workers are very apolitical, and "they don't understand the importance of unions", therefore, "it is difficult to communicate with them". Besides that, a study by Noronha and D'Cruz (2006) in India indicates that many call centers workers do not know what the term union means and how they function. They claim:

"Call centre employees believed that union formation would never take place in the sector for several decades to come. For those who had some understanding of the word, union, the formation of a collective would be unfair, since the organisation had been upfront about the working conditions at the time of recruitment, it was not right for employees to later form a union, because they could not cope" (Noronha & D'Cruz, 2006).

As a specific example, Amandeep Sandhu (2006) examines two trade unions attempts to organize this industry in India. His study shows results why unions fail to organize call center workers. According to his findings, employment in the call center industry heavily

concentrates on private sector in the service sector. Workers in this sector which is called BPO (Business Process Outsourcing) speak English as new middle class members and the BPO work provides these identities with a professional image. From both trade unions' views, the BPO workers associate unions with "old economy" and "blue-collar work", therefore, their perceptions are one of the most important challenges (Sandhu, 2006).

In order to create effective union organizing strategies, it is important to get to know new labour profiles and their demands. Apart from the unions methods to organize call centers, unions' marketing techniques and images as well as communication with their members and servicing members influence success (Bibby, 2000). Following this perspective, some successful union organizing activities can be given which may show union organizing efforts based on new recruitment methods. UNI Global Union has coordinated an "action month" as an organizing activity in call centers every October for 15 years. During this action month, UNI carries out actions in call centers on different themes every year. The themed idea in 2006 was focused on stress and "Stop the BOSS" (Burn-Out-Stress-Syndrome) was the slogan while the themed idea was compensation and professionalism in 2013. This action also includes direct meetings, visiting workplaces to have face to face contact with the workers, distributing leaflets, setting up information tables, organizing round tables as well as making contact with employers and policymakers (UNI Global Union, 2013).

In Australia, the ACTU has established a "Call Center Unions Group". Their aim is to coordinate unions that try to organize call centers, thus, increasing union memberships and improving workers' rights (Cantrick Brooks, 2005). Unions involved in this group are: Australian Services Union (ASU), the Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU), the Communications, Electrical and Plumbing Union (CEPU), the Finance Sector Union (FSU), the Media, Entertainment and Arts Alliance (MEAA) and the National Unions of Workers (NUW). As part of the Call Center Unions Group, the ACTU(Australian Council of Trade Unions) has built a consultation service called "Call Central" as an organizing campaign. This group has also developed a "Call Center Charter" and a "Call Center Minimum Standards Code" in order to encourage employers and governments to provide clear working standards (Cantrick Brooks, 2005).

Some Brazilian unions' activities can be given as another typical example to organize call centers. As indicated in the previous chapter, Brazilian call center workers are dominantly black women (Braga, 2012). A study by Braga (2012) shows that the proportion of lesbian,

gay, bisexual, transvestite, transsexual and transgendered people is also very high. In this respect, the trade union Sintratel (Sindicato dos Trabalhadores em Telemarketing) has set up a new course to discuss the race issue as well as gender and sexual orientation. In order to "bring call center workers closer to the everyday life of the union", Sintratel has used the strong link between unions and social movements which has historically occured (Braga, 2012). As a result of this course, the Sintratel has also participated in the LGBT Pride Parade Association in Sao Paulo. According to Ruy Braga (2012), this link between Sintratel and LGBT Pride has encouraged travestites and transsexuals to take part in the trade union movement as the delegates of "rank and file" which was new for the Brazilian labour movement.

Organized labour could be built through focusing on employment interests of workers and their day-to-day problems as well as paying particular attention to new groups of workers (Gall, 2009). In general, the fundamental demands of union members in call centers are wages, more effective representation and work safety (Bain & Taylor, 2002). In this sense, Çetin's researched (2005) shows that low job security coupled with low job satisfaction represent problems associated with call centers. She analyzes the workforce related issues in call centers including six different call centers in the Turkish banking sector. Beginning with recruitment, she outlines findings related to the call center work organization, work process, workforce demographics, training and development, task specifications, employee goals and career, several opportunities related to growth, performance appraisals, general working conditions, job satisfaction, job stress, worker motivation, shifts, worker health, customerworker relations, relationships with supervisors, and finally, compensation and benefits. Having made an extensive analysis concerning the call center workforce, Çetin (2005) concludes that a type of Fordist-Taylorist work organization exists in call centers because of a routine and monotonous task which results of the high turnover rates.

A research conducted by Russel (2005) carried out in the 20 Australian call centers, working conditions that are offered, have an impact on the voluntariness to join a union. His survey shows that there are positive relationships between union function on employment related problems and union membership. In this context, Bain and Taylor (2000) claim that health and safety, commitment of the workers as well as tactical awareness play key roles among the reasons of union memberships. Therefore, first of all, trade unions should figure out fundamental demands of call center workers in order to create effective organizing strategy. For instance, The TUC in the UK has established free telephone help and support

services for workers in order to expose their complaints about their working life. This helpline has received over a thousand calls in two weeks. 70% of these calls were from un-organizing workers. According to context of the workers calls, the most frequent related were "excessive surveillance" (25% of calls), "lack of breaks" (15% of calls), "general health and safety (13% of calls), and more specifically "stress" (8% of calls).

As another example in Scotland, public service union UNISON guided a survey among their members in call centers which covered 46 thousand call center workers. As a result of the survey, the UNISON has launched six point "call center charter" which is called "Raising the Standard" as following (Paul & Huws, 2002):

- fair pay and conditions
- a positive approach to work life balance
- better job design
- the opportunity to join a trade union
- training and development
- health and safety at work

As an important example, Unions in Australia and the UK have had success in winning compensation for members who were affected by acoustic shock. The Communication Workers Union of the UK has won 100 cases and has brought the affected members more than £ 1million as a result of acoustic shocks. This illness is a result of loud bangs, short screams or high pitched tones (UNI Global Union, 2006).

In their research, Taylor and Bain have interviewed call center workers in their work environment. According to their study, call center workers "like" their job because of the colleagues and friendly workmates (46.7%), giving customers satisfaction (40.4%) and opportunity of flexible hours or part-time employment (30.7%). On the other hand, the main reasons why call center workers dislike their jobs shown in Table 3:

Table 2: The main reasons why call center workers dislike their jobs

	%
Targets, sales targets – unachievable etc.	39.5
Boring, monotonous, answering phone all day, repetitive, no variety Management, supervisors – bad, dishonest, general treatment, lack of respect,	37.0
understanding	34.6
Pressure – stress, not enough time between calls, overloaded, speed-up,	
understaffing	16.3
Hours, shifts – inflexible, expected to do overtime etc.	13.0
Breaks – not enough, not long enough	11.7
Lack of career opportunities/prospects/development	10.8
Monitoring, surveillance, having calls taped, big brother, scripts	9.6
Customers – difficult/abusive, contact with	8.1
Pay, basic pay, wages, salary	6.0

**Source:** (Bibby, 2000).

As seen in Table 2 workers' lack of the satisfaction about wages is very low down the list. However, in the same survey, Taylor and Bain asked the same workers what should trade unions' chief priority be. 60% of the workers answered priority should be given in problems of salaries and bonuses. This also means that trade unions are thought to be mostly concerned with pay issues (Taylor and Bain, as cited in Bibby, 2000).

Another research carried out in Indian call centers by Taylor and his colleagues (2009) shows that call center workers have joined the union because of the instrumental reasons which are related to salaries, working conditions and information about their rights. They have analyzed 879 active members of the UNITES (Union of Information Technology Enabled Services Professionals), whose aims are to organize employees in the BPO sector. In their survey, they investigated patterns behind trade union joining decisions. According to their findings, three-quarters of the workers joined the UNITES because of pay and working conditions (Taylor et al., 2009).

Unionization among temporary workers has also been one of the subjects in call center researches. In the case of the call centers, temporary workers are more difficult to organize than standard "breadwinner" employees. As shown by Russell's survey (2005) in Australian call centers, "length of service trumps the effects of casual and/or part-time work on union membership". In this regard, while short-term temporary work remains an important obstruction to union organization, the tendency to "regularize" impermanent work changes the scene for union organizing efforts.

Besides that, call centers are high-turnover workplaces which makes it difficult to keep a stable membership or collective activity (Bain & Taylor, 2002). Workers often do not stay long in this job, they may work irregular shift patterns. As a matter of fact, the high rate of casual workers, coupled with the temporary nature of call center employment, means that it can be more difficult than elsewhere to recruit and retain union members (Paul & Huws, 2002). In this context, some examples can be given which are addressed as new union strategies in order to overcome the negative effect of these challenges.

As a specific example, the finance sector union UNIFI and telecoms union CWU in the UK have offered "portable union membership" to call center workers switching between two sectors. In the UK, many workers change their working area from telecoms to finance call centers. As a result, large numbers of union members are "lost" to all unions in the union registration process. "Under the "Moving on" slogan, both unions have encouraged their members to make "a seamless switch" between these unions without waiting for benefits in their new unions. As a result of this campaign, unions have wanted to overcome challenges in organizing a "new economy" which results in low pay, hard working conditions, short-term and part time contracts, and high turnover rates (Paul & Huws, 2002).

Another example can be given in Italy, some large union confederations such as CGIL (Italian General Confederation of Labour), CISL (Italian Confederation of Trade Unions) and UIL (Italian Labour Union) have established special union structure to represent temporary workers including call center workers (Paul & Huws, 2002). A report by Doellgast and her colleagues (2009) shows that Austrian unions have targeted to organize subcontractor workers and have launched organizing campaigns. Dutch unions have also been quite active to organize these workers in order to establish and maintain sectoral bargaining. Furthermore, Dutch unions are leaders in Europe in negotiating agreements which cover temporary agency workers (Doellgast et al., 2009).

Some studies on informal ways of the workers resistance in the call center literature can be also mentioned. For instance, study by Mulholland (2004) in Ireland examined the formation of informal workplace collective actions and practices among Irish call center workers, and indicated an informal ways of the workers resistance. According to her study, call center workers have created their own resistance strategies in four forms; "Slammin', Scammin', Smokin' and Leavin'." Slammin' defines making fake sales against administration and supervision technologies. Scammin' refers to work avoidance and workers' sickness.

Smokin' and Leavin' define leaving work without permission before the shift ends and smoking during working hours. Research carried out in Turkey by Akçay (2008) indicates the most observed forms of protests in the call centers are:

- 1- Not applying to the workplace rules (arriving late for work, extending the time of breaks, speaking reluctantly)
- 2- Receiving less calls than the target
- 3- Quitting the work

In their early study which they display the "individual" ways of resistance in work place, Taylor and Bain (1999) note that the resistance is generally against the performance monitoring system and competitive structure of team work. They explain how the workers' individual reactions transformed into collective reactions: Where individual, oppositional practices are deeply embedded in workplace cultures and are supported, shared or emulated by other dissatisfied workers that adopt a "quasi-collective form".

#### CONCLUSION

This dissertation examines the call center literature in order to find out researches on union organizing. The present study analyzes the work in call center by using the findings of existing literature, and the place of call centers in world economy by using relevant databases.

As it is discussed in the Chapter 1, according to the existing literature on call centers, labour process in call centers is so routinized, standardized and tightly controlled that it does not require skilled workers. Beside this, as the turnover of workers in the sector are so high workers satisfaction levels are also very low in almost every country. The workers in the sector tend to see their work as a "just passing through job" owing to Taylorist production organization in the Liberal Market and Coordinated Market Economies. However, in developing countries, workers usually consider call centers as "life-long job" as the their alternatives in other sectors are limited.

The second chapter analyzed the global call center industry for understanding the geographical distribution of call centers and characteristics of call center workers. According to research findings in the industry, call centers are dominantly in-house organizations where workers handle incoming calls, serving mostly national market rather than international one. A typical call center worker is young and female. Call centers are dominantly located in urban areas but since the labour costs constitute the major costs for call centers, companies tend to go more peripheral areas where unemployment rates are traditionally high in order to exploit cheap workforce. This migration of call center activities began with going provincial cities in national borders. However, during 2000s most of the multinational companies relocated their call centers in developing world where they enjoyed not only low-cost and relatively educated workforce with frequently stressed "professional attitude" but also generous financial support from governments which consider the call center as an opportunity to overcome unemployment in their countries. In this context, India, South Africa, Philippines emerged as popular offshore destinations thanks to their linguistic and cultural ties that derived from colonial heritage.

After these observations on the global call center industry, the third chapter explored why trade union movement entered a crisis, and analyzed union's structural and contingent crisis. In the new economic and political structure, based on neoliberal policies, deeply

influenced trade union movement. Unions began to lose their influence and power as a result of series of economic, social and political factors which led to have weaken. Today, the answer for "how trade unions of which necessities are questioned for a long time will make their way" carries greater importance of all the times.

Our study showed that call centers have been the subject of academic studies over twenty years and investigated from various perspectives. As examined in the Chapter 1, the debate on call centers has generally focused on managerial strategies, labour process, regional development, work degradation, and working conditions. However, apparently the collective forms of organization in call centers have not been received widespread interest yet. In other words, there is a very small body of literature addressing the union activities in call centers.

Our study, moreover, showed that most of the studies on trade unions and union organizing in call centers focus on the practical challenges to organize the call center workers, and supply detailed qualitative case studies of specific union organizing efforts at call centers. For unions, the main challenge to organize the call center workers is that the call center work is new emerging sector in the labour market. As call center work is seen as a temporary work, high turnover makes difficult for workers to get organized. This is why unions have short and tough history in the sector. Call center workers are mostly young and female which are also an important 'barriers' for unions. As a result, the revitalization process of unions requires some sort of transition from the primary sectors to the tertiary sectors, and today, unions are in difficulty to find the right way to reach their potential members in tertiary sectors such as call centers.

Although trade unions encounter challenges arising from the nature of the work, their successful stories still provide a fertile and rich land, which is why there is a growing interest in the academy. Struggles of unions to cope with problems of 21th century factories promise at least decent working conditions for millions of workers in the sector. Their struggle would also serve to the debate on ongoing crisis of unions and their revitalization.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Akçay, Ü. (2008). Çağrı Merkezlerinde Emek Süreçlerine Bakmak:Çağrı Merkezleri Örneği. İktisat Dergisi, pp. 47-53.
- Alava, A. S. (2012). Updates on the Phlippine Call Center Industry: The Isuue of Sustainability. *University of the Philippines* Retrieved April, 30, 2015, from http://cba.upd.edu.ph/docs/DP/0602\_ALAVA.pdf, pp. 3-33.
- Bagnara, S., & Marti, P. (2001). "Human Work in Call Centres: a Challenge for Cognitive Ergonomics. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science* 2 (3), pp.223-237.
- Bain, P. (2001). Some Sectoral and Locational Factors in the Development of Call Centres in the USA and Netherlands. *University of Strathclyde*, pp.1-18, Retrieved February, 05, 2015 from, http://www.strath.ac.uk/media/departments/hrm/pdfs/hrm-pdf-occasional papers/media\_61998\_en.pdf
- Bain, P., & Taylor, P. (2000). Entrapped by the "Electronic Panopticon"? Worker Resistance in the Call Centre. *New Technology, Work and Employment, 15* (1), pp. 2-18.
- Bain, P., & Taylor, P. (2002). Ringing the Changes? Union Recognition and Organisation in Call Centres in the UK Finance Sector. *Industrial Relations Journa*, 33(3), pp. 246-261.
- Bain, P., Watson, A., Mulvey, G., Taylor, P., & Gall, G. (2002). Taylorism, Targets and the Pursuit of Quantity and Quality by Call Centre Management. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, Vol:17:3, pp.170-185.
- Bakvis, P. (2009, February 09). *Trade Unions Combat the Global Financial Crisis*. Retrieved August 25, 2015 from, http://www.undp.org: http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/documents/partners/civil\_society/publications/advisory\_committees/trade-unions-combat-the-global-financial-crisis.pdf
- Baldry, C., Bain, P., & Taylor, P. (1998). "Bright Satanic Offices": Intensification, Control and Team Taylorism, In: P. Thompson, & C. Warhurst (eds), *Workplaces of the Future*(pp.163-184), Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Baldry, C., Bain, P., Taylor, P., Hyman, J., Scholarios, D., Marks, A., et al. (2007). *The Meaning of Work in the New Economy*. New York: Macmillan.
- Batt, R., Doellgast, V., & Kwon, H. (2004). *The U.S. Call Center Industry 2004:National Benchmarking Report.* USA: Cornell University, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015, from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1005&context =cahrs wp
- Batt, R., Doellgast, V., Kwon, H., Nopany, N., Nopany, P., & da Costa, A. (2005). *The Indian Call Centre Industry: National Benchmarking Report.* Cornell: Cornell University, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015 from, http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article =1006& con text=cahrswp

- Batt, R., Holman, D., & Holtgrewe, U. (2009). The Globalization of Service Work: Comparative Institutional Perspectives on Call Centers. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 62 (4), pp.453-488.
- Belt, V., Richardson, R., & Webster, J. (2002). Women, Social Skill Interactive Service Work in Telephone Call Centers. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 17(1), pp.20-34.
- Benner, C., Lewis, C., & Omar, R. (2007). *The South African Call Center Industry: A Study of Strategy, Human Resource Practices and Performance*. Pennstate: The Global Call Centre Industry Project.
- Bernaciak, M., Gumbrell-McCormick, R., & Hyman, R. (2014). *European Trade Unionism:* from Crisis to Renewal? . Brussels: ETUI aisbl.
- Bibby, A. (2000). Organising in Financial Call Centres. England: UNI Global Union.
- Bickerton, G., & Stinson, J. (2008). Challenges facing the Canadian labour movement in the context of globalization, unemployment and the casualization of labour. In: A. Bieler, I. Lindberg, & D. Pillay (eds), *Labour and the Challenges of Globalization* (pp. 161-176). London: Pluto Press.
- Braga, R. (2012). A política do precariado: do populismo à hegemonia lulista. Sao Paulo: Boitempo.
- Braga, R. (2012). Brazilian Labour Relations in Lula's Era: Telemarketing Operators and their Unions. In: S. Mosoetsa, & M. Williams (eds), *Labour in the South*(pp. 109-125), Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Braga, R. (2007). Information Work and the Proletarian Condition Today: The Perception of Brazilian Call Center Operators. *Societies Without Border*, 2, pp. 27-48.
- Braverman, H. (1998). Labor and Monopoly Capital: The Degradation of Work in the Twentieth Harry Century (25th Anniversary Edition. New York: Monthly Review Press.
- Bristow, G., Munday, M., & Gripaios, P. (2000). Call Centre Growth and Location: Corporate Strategy and the Spatial Division of Labour. *Environment and Planning A*, 32(3), pp.519-538.
- Broek, D. v., Callaghan, G., & Thompson, P. (2004). Teams without Teamwork? Explaining the Call Centre Paradox. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 25 (2), pp.197-218.
- Call Center Association. (2014). *Çağrı Merkezi Sektörü*. İstanbul: Call Center Association.
- Callaghan, G., & Thompson, P. (2002). "We Recruit Attitude": The Selection and Shaping of Call Centre Labour. *Journal of Management Studies*, 39 (2), pp.233-254.
- Cameron, D. (2000). Styling the Worker: Gender and the Commodication of Language in the Globalized Economy. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 4(3), pp. 323-347.
- Cantrick Brooks, B. Y. (2005). *Trade Union Joining:Perceptions from Call Centre Employees*. Wollongong:University of Wollongong. Retrieved, May, 28, 2015 from, http://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1555&context=theses

- Castree, N., Coe, N., Ward, K., & Samers, M. (2004). *Spaces of Work: Global Capitalism and Geographies of Labour*. London: Sage.
- Cavallini, M. (2012, october 07). *Telemarketing emprega 1,4 milhão no país; veja como é o trabalho no setor*. Retrieved, May, 11, 2015 from, http://g1.globo.com/ concur sos-e-emprego/noticia/2012/10/telemarketing-emprega-14-milhao-no-pais-veja-como-e-o-trabalho-no-setor.html
- Chun, J. J. (2008). The contested politics of gender and irregular employment: revitalizing the South Korean democratic labour movement. In: A. Bieler, I. Lindberg, & D. Pillay (eds), *Labour and the Challenges of Globalization* (pp. 23-45). London: Pluto Press.
- Clarke, S. (2008). Neoliberal Toplum Kuramı. A. Saad-Filho, & D. Johnston In: S. Baslı & T. Oncel(eds), *Neoliberalizm Muhalif bir Seçki* (pp. 91-106). İstanbul: Yordam.
- Cowie, C. (2007). The Accents of Outsourcing: the Meanings of "Neutral" in the Indian Call Center Industry. *World Englishes*, 26(3), pp.316-330.
- Çağrı Merkezleri Dernegi. (2009). *Dünya ve Türkiye'de Çağrı Merkezi Sektörü*. İstanbul: ÇMD.
- Çelik, A. (2007). Sendikalar Krize Yol Açan Yapısal ve Örgütsel Faktörler. In: F. Sazak (ed), Sendikal Kriz Yaklaşımları (pp. 104-115). Ankara: Epos Yayınları.
- Çetin, B. I. (2005). *Bilgi Toplumu ve Bilgi İşçisi Bağlamında Çağrı Merkezleri: Emek Süreci İş ve İstihdam.* İstanbul: Unpublished Master's Thesis, Marmara University, .
- ÇSGB. (2013). Çağrı Merkezlerinde Çalışma Koşullarının İyileştirilmesine ve Sosyal Tarafların Bilinçlendirilmesine Yönelik Programlı Teftiş Sonuç Raporu. Ankara: Turkish Ministry of Labour and Social Security
- ÇSGB. (2015, July 15). *İşçi ve Sendika Üye Sayıları. Retrieved* August 28, 2015 from, http://www.csgb.gov.tr/csgbPortal/csgb.portal?page=uye
- Dieckhoff, K., Bauer, F., & Karsten, V. (2002). Call Report 1.Branchenbild Call Center [Call centre branch overview]. Hamburg, Germany: Verwaltungs.
- Doellgast, V., Batt, R., & Sorensen, O. H. (2009). Introduction: Institutional Change and Labor Market Segmentation in European Call Centers. *Cornell University ILR School* (pp.1-19), Retrieved April, 29, 2015 from, http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1347&context=articles
- Dumenil, G., & Levy, D. (2005). The Neoliberal (Counter)Revolution. In: A. Filho, & D. Johnston (eds), *Neoliberalism. A Critical Reader* (pp. 9-19). London: Pluto Press.
- Ebbinghaus, B., & Visser, j. (1999). When Institutions Matter: Union growth and decline in western Europe, 1950-1995. *European Sociological Review*, 15 (2), pp. 135-158.
- Ellis, V., & Taylor, P. (2006). 'You Don't Know What You've got till It's Gone': Recontextualizing the Origins, Development and Impact of the Call Centres,. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 21 (2), pp.107-122.
- Fernie, S., & Metcalf, D. (1998). (Not) Hanging on the Telephone: Payment Systems in the New Sweatshops. London: London School of Economics and Political Science.

- Fiorito, J., & Gall, G. (2012). Why We Need A Survey of Unions. *WorkingUSA: The Journal of Labor and Society*, 15, pp. 217-232.
- Fisher, M. (2004). The crisis of civil service trade unionism: a case study of call centre development in a civil service agency. *Work, employment and society*, pp.157-177.
- Fleischer, J. (2004). Diagnose and improve your call center's health. *Call Center Magazine San Francisco*, pp.16-24.
- Frege, C. M., & Kelly, J. (2004). *Varieties of Unionism: Strategies for Union Revitalization in a Globalizing Economy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Frenkel, S. J., Tam, M., Korczynski, M., & Shire, K. (1998). Beyond Bureaucracy? Work Organization in Call Centres. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 9 (6), pp.957-979.
- Frenkel, S., Wallace, C., Orlitzky, M., Zouroudis, A., & Stephens, M. (2005). *The Australian Call Center Industry:Work Practices, Human Resource Management, and Institutional Pressures*. Australia: Australian Graduate School of Management,.
- Friginal, E. (2009). Threats to the Sustainability of the Outsourced Call Center Industry in the Philippines: Implications for Language Policy. *Language Policy*, 8 (1), pp.51-68.
- Gadrey, J. (2000). The Characterization of Goods and Services: An Alternative Approach. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 46 (3), pp.369-387.
- Gall, G. (2003). *Union Organizing: Campaigningfor the Trade Union Recognition*. New York: Routledge.
- Gall, G. (2009). *Union Revitalisation in Advanced Economies*. New York: Palgrave Macmillian.
- Harvey, D. (2005). A Brief History of Neoliberalism. United States: Oxford University Press.
- Harvey, D. (1992). The Condition of Postmodernity. USA: Blackwell Publishers.
- Heery, E., & Adler, L. (2004). Organizing the Unorganized. In: C. Frege, & J. Kelly (eds), *Varieties of Unionism:Strategies for Union Revitalization in a Globalizing Economy* (pp. 45-71). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Heller, M. (2003). Globalization, the New Economy, and the Commodification of Language and Identity. *Journal of Sociolinguistics*, 7(4), pp. 473-492.
- Hill, T. P. (1977). On Goods and Services. Review of Income and Wealth, 23 (4).pp.315-338.
- Holman, D. (2002). Employee wellbeing in Call Centres. *Human Resource Management*, 12(4), pp.35-50.
- Holman, D., Batt, R., & Holtgrewe, U. (2007). *The Global Call Center Report: International Perspectives on Management and Employment*. USA: Cornell University ILR School, Retrieved April, 29, 2015 from, http://ie.technion.ac.il/serveng/ References/GCC% 20Report% 2020-04-07%20UK% 20Version.pdf
- Holtgrewe, U. (2005). Call Centres in Germany: Preliminary Findings from the Global Call Centre Project-Germany. Duisburg: Russell Sage Foundation, Retrieved April, 29,

- 2015, from, http://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 237444424\_Call\_Centres\_ in\_ Germany\_-\_Prelimi nary\_Findings\_from\_the\_Global\_Call\_Centre\_Project\_-\_Germany
- Holtgrewe, U., Longen, J., Mottweiler, H., & Schönauer, A. (2009). Global or Embedded Service Work: The (Limited) Transnationalisation of the Call-Centre Industry, *Work Organisation, Labour & Globalisation*, 3(1), pp.9-25.
- Houlihan, M. (2000). Eyes Wide Shut? Querying the Depth of Call Centre Learning. *Journal of European Industrial Training*, 24 (2-3-4), pp.228-240.
- Hurd, R., Milkman, R., & Turner, L. (2003). Reviving the American Labour Movement: Institutions and Mobilization. *European Journal of Industrial Relations*, March, pp. 99-119.
- Hyman, R. (1992). Trade Unions and the Disaggregation of the Working Class in Advanced Capitalist Democracies: Social and Organizational Variations. In: M. Regini (ed), *The Future of Labour Movements* (s. 150-169). London: Thousand Oaks-New Delhi:Sage.
- Hyman, R. (2001). *Understanding European Trade Unionism Between Market, Class and Society*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Jakobsen, K., & Freitas Barbosa, A. d. (2008). Neoliberal policies, labour market restructuring and social exclusion: Brazil's working-class response. In: A. Bieler, I. Lindberg, & D. Pillay (eds), Labour and the Challenges of Globalization (pp. 115-139). London: Pluto Press.
- Lee, B.-H., & Kang, H.-Y. (2006). A National Survey Korean Call Centres. In: J. Burgess, & J. Connell (eds), *In Developments in the Call Centre Industry: Analysis, Changes and Challenges* (pp. 75-92). New York: Routledge.
- Lerner, S. (1998). Talking the Offensive, Turning the Tide. In: G. Mantsios, & J. Sweeney (eds), *A New Labor Movement for the New Century* (pp. 65-69). New York:Garland Pub.
- Luz, J. L., & Finn, P. (1998). Getting Serious about Inclusion: A Comprehensive Approach. In: G. Mantsios, & J. J. Sweeney (eds), *A New Labor Movement for the New Century* (pp. 171-185). New York: Garland Pub.
- Moody, K. (1997). Workers in a Lean World. New York: Verso.
- Mulholland, K. (2002). Gender, emotional labour and teamworking in a call centre. *Personnel Review*, pp. 283 303.
- Mulholland, K. (2004). Workplace resistance in an Irish call centre: slammin', scammin' smokin' an' leavin'. *Work, employment and society*, 18 (4), pp. 709-724.
- Munck, R. (2002). Globalisation and Labour. London: Zed Books.
- Müftüoğlu, Ö. (2007). Kriz ve Sendikalar. In: F. Sazak (ed), *Türkiye'de Sendikal Kriz ve Sendikal Arayışlar* (pp. 117-157). Ankara: Epos.
- Noronha, E., & D'Cruz, P. (2006). Organising Call Centre Agents: Emerging Issues. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 41 (21), pp. 2115-2121.

- O Globo. (2011, November 28). *Empresas de Call Center vao Oferecer mais de 320 Vagas por dia em 2011*. Retrieved May 10, 2015 from, http://www.veralana.com.br/blog/empresas-de-call-center-vao-oferecer-mais-de-320-vagas-por-dia-em-2011/
- OECD. (2005). *Growth in Services*. Paris: OECD, Retrieved April, 29, 2015 from, http://www.oecd.org/general/34749412.pdf
- OECD. (2015). Trade Union Density, Paris: OECD, Retrieved May 10, 2015 from, http://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?QueryId=20167#.
- Olivera Junior, M. d., Hoyos Guevara, ,. A., Trevisan, L. N., França M., A. J., Giao, P. R., Silva, M. d., et al. (2005). *Brazilian Call Center Industry Report 2005*. Sao Paulo: Associação Brasileira de Telesserviços, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015, from, http://www.ergonet.com.br/download/callcenter-moacir.pdf
- Pandy, W. R., & Rogerson, C. M. (2014). South Africa's Call Centre Industry: The Emerging Challenges of a Growing Destination in the Global South. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, pp. 208-217, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015, from, http://www.mcser.org/journal/index.php/mjss/article/view/2548/2516
- Patel, R. (2008). Working the Night Shift: Women in India's Call Center Industry. The University of Texas at Austin.
- Paul, J., & Huws, U. (2002). *How Can We Help? Good Practice in Call-Centre Employment*. Brussels: European Trade Union Confederation.
- Pillay, D. (2008). Globalization and the informalization of labour: the case of South Africa,
   In: A. Bieler, I. Lindberg, & D. Pillay (eds), Labour and the Challenges of Globalization (pp. 45-54). London: Pluto Press.
- Raj, P. (2008). Socio-economic Impacts of Globalisation on Young Adults in India: A Study of Call Centres in the Environs of New Delhi. Montreal: McGill University, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015, from, http://digitool.library.mcgill.ca/R/?func=dbin-jump-full&object\_id=40701& local\_base=GEN01-MCG02
- Reese, N., & Soco-Carreon, J. (2013). No Call for Action? Why There Is No Union (Yet) in Philippine Call Centers . *ASEAS Austrian Journal of South-East Asian Studies*, 6(1), pp. 140-159, Retrieved, May, 28, 2015 from, http://www.seas.at/aseas/6\_1/ASEAS\_6\_1\_A8.pdf
- Richardson, R., & Gillespie, A. (2003). The Call of the Wild: Call Centers and Economic Development in Urban Areas. *Growth and Change*, 34 (1), pp. 87-108.
- Richardson, R., & Marshall, J. N. (1999). Teleservices, Call Centres and Urban and National Development. *The Service Industries Journal*, 19(1), pp.106-107.
- Rousan, M., & Henderson, J. L. (1996). Agent turnover in Ohio State University. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(2), pp. 56-62. Retrieved, May, 17, 2015 from, http://pubs.aged.tamu.edu/jae/pdf/vol37/37-02-56.pdf
- Russel, B. (2005). Unions in the Information Economy: Info-service Work and Organizing in Australian Call Centres. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, April, pp.285-303.

- Russel, B., & Thite, M. (2008). The Next Division of Labour: Work Skills in Australian and Indian Call Centres. *Work, Employment and Society*, 22 (4), pp.615-634.
- Saad-Filho, A., & Johnston, D. (2008). *Giriş' in Neoliberalizm Muhalif bir Seçki*(pp.13-25), S. Baslı & T. Oncel (eds), İstanbul: Yordam.
- Sandhu, A. (2006). Why Unions Fail in Organising India's BPO-ITES Industry. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 41 (41), pp.14-20.
- Sassen, S. (2001). *The Global City:New York, London, Tokyo*. New York: Princeton University Press.
- Sennet, R. (2006). The Culture of the New Capitalism. London: Yale University Press.
- Serrano, M., Xhafa, E., & Fichter, M. (2011). *Trade Unions and the Global Crisis:Labour's Visions, Strategies and Responses*. Geneva: International Labour Organization.
- Sorensen, O. H., & El-Salanti, N. (2005). *Call Centres in Denmark 2004: Strategy, HR Practices & Performance*. Denmark: Danmark Tekniske.
- Taylor, F. (1947). Scientific Management, Comprising Shop Management: The Principles of Scientific Management and Testimony Before the Special House Committee. New York: Harper.
- Taylor, P., & Bain, P. (1999)."An Assembly Line in the Head": Work and Employee Relations in the Call Centre, *Industrial Relations Journal*, 30(2), pp.101-117.
- Taylor, P., & Bain, P. (2004). Call Centre Outsourcing to India: The Revenge of History? *Labour and Industry*, 14 (3), pp. 15-38.
- Taylor, P., & Bain, P. (2005). "India Calling to the far away Towns": the Call Centre Labour Process and Globalization. *Work, Employment and Society*, 2 (19), pp. 261-282.
- Taylor, P., D'Cruz, P., Noronha, E., & Scholarios, D. (2009). Indian call centres and business process outsourcing: a study in union formation. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 24(1), pp. 19-42.
- Taylor, S. (1998). Emotional Labour and the New Workplace. In: P. Thompson, & C. Warhurst (eds), *Workplaces of the Future* (pp. 84-103). London: Macmillan.
- Thelen, K. (2001). Varieties of Labor Politics in Developed Economies. In: P. A. Hall, & D. Soskice (eds), *Varieties of Capitalism: The Institutional Foundations of Comparative Advantage* (pp. 71-104). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Torres, E. (2014, February 28). *Philippines: A Magna Carta for Call Centre Workers*, Retrieved, March 31, 2015 from, http://www.equaltimes.org/philippines-a-magnacarta-for-call? lang=en #.VRscE\_nF\_Qw
- UNI Global Union. (2006). A UNI Report on Customer Service Professionals and their Unions: Global Organising for Call Centre Workers, Switzerland: UNI Global Union, Retrieved, May 30, 2015 from, http://www.uniglobalunion.org/sites/default/files/attachments/pdf/ReportCallCntreEngLite.pdf

- UNI Global Union. (2013, November 16). *UNI Call Center Action Month*, Retrieved Agust 15, 2015 from, http://www.callcentreaction.org/blog-2/
- Uyen, V. (2005). Answering Call Centre Turnover. Canadian HR Reporte, 18 (14), p.13.
- Visser, J. (2006). Union membership statistics in 24 countries. *Monthly Labor Review*, January, pp. 38-49. Retrieved May, 28, 2015 from, http://www.bls.gov/opub/ mlr/2006/01/art3full.pdf.
- Wang, S., & Li, D. (2010). A Empirical Analysis on the Relationship Between Service Industry and Economic Growth. *Hebei University of Economics & Business Working Paper*, pp.44-48, Retrieved June, 17, 2015, from, http://www.seiofbluemountain.com/upload/product/201003/2010cygchy01a9.pdf
- Waterman, P. (1993). Social-Movement Unionism: A New Union Model for a New World Order? *Review.* (Fernand Braudel Center), 16 (3), pp.245-278.
- Wirtz, J. (2000). Growth of the service sector in Asia. *Singapore Management Review* (22), pp.37-54.
- Yücesan Özdemir, G. (2014). İnatçı Köstebek.Çağrı Merkezlerinde Gençlik, Sınıf ve Direniş. İstanbul: Yordam.